

Master's Degree in Environmental Sciences

Final Thesis

Development of a decision-making framework addressed to SMEs and consultants to support the assessment, adoption and implementation of corporate sustainability

Supervisor Prof.ssa Elena Semenzin

Assistant supervisor Dott.ssa Lisa Pizzol Dott. Marco Pesce

Graduand Michele Molin Matricolation number 860630

Academic Year 2019 / 2020

A mamma, papà, sorelle, cognati, nipotoni e nipotine

CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	I
LIST OF TABLES	III
ABSTRACT	IV
RATIONALE AND GOALS	V
STRUCTURE	. VII
SECTION I: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	1
CHAPTER 1: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY	1
CHAPTER 2: Corporate sustainability tools	6
2.1. Standards and certifications	7
2.1.1. B Corporation	9
2.2. Reporting tools	12
2.2.1. Global Reporting Initiative	16
2.2.2. Sustainability Accounting Standards Board	20
2.2.3. Integrated Reporting	24
2.2.4. Future perspectives on reporting	26
2.3. Rating tools	28
2.4. Frameworks	31
2.4.1. FSSD - Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development, developed by the Nat	ural
Step 33	
2.4.2. BS8900 - Managing Sustainable Development of Organizations	37
CHAPTER 3: COMMITMENTS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	40
CHAPTER 4: Reasons that Induced to the creation of the framework	43
SECTION II: CONCEPTUAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE MODULAR DECISION-MAKING FRAMEWORK	. 44
CHAPTER 5: The modular decision-making framework	44
5.1. Phase 0: Understanding the principles of sustainability	51
5.2. Phase I: Defining the current position and the priorities of tomorrow	52
5.2.1. First additional checklist	55
5.3. Phase II: Identifying the interventions	56
5.3.1 Development of the morphological scheme	60

5.3.	2. Second additional checklist	80
5.4.	Phase III: Measuring progress	80
5.4.	1. Third additional checklist	81
5.5.	Phase IV: Communicating and reporting	82
5.6.	Conceptual scheme of the framework	83
CHAPTER	R 6: IT DEVELOPMENT OF THE DECISION-MAKING FRAMEWORK	85
SECTION III	: FRAMEWORK APPLICATION THROUGH A CASE STUDY	87
CHAPTER	R 7: INTRODUCTION TO THE CASE STUDY	
7.1.	Material aspects and definition of boundaries	
7.1.	1. Interpretation of environmental materiality	93
7.2.	Maturity	96
7.3.	Stakeholders' engagement	98
7.4.	Definition of methodologies	
7.5.	Level reached by the preliminary application of the framework	
CHAPTER	R 8: POTENTIAL AND CRITICALITY OF THE FRAMEWORK	106
DISCUSSIO	NS AND CONCLUSIONS	
Limitatio	NS AND FUTURE IMPROVEMENTS FOR THE RESEARCH	109
REFERENCE	ΞS	112
APPENDIX	A: FIRST IN-DEPTH SECTION OF THE THEORETICAL NOTIONS DOCUMENT	123
APPENDIX I	B: SUSTAINABILITY METHODOLOGIES/STANDARDS QUESTIONNAIRE	124
ACKNOWL	EDGEMENTS	

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.1: INTERCONNECTION BETWEEN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY (BAUMGARTNER
& Ebner, 2010)
FIGURE 1.2: MEGA FORCES CONNECTED TO SUSTAINABILITY THAT WILL HAVE AN IMPACT ON COMPANY GROWTH (KPMG,
2012)
FIGURE 2.1: METHODS FOR EVALUATING, IMPLEMENTING, AND REPORTING CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY
FIGURE 2.2: SOME OF THE MOST IMPORTANT STANDARDS WITH A FOCUS ON TBL DIVIDED BY TYPE OF CAPITAL (NUNHES
et al., 2020)7
FIGURE 2.3: NUMERICAL REFERENCE SCALE FOR B-CORP (B IMPACT ASSESSMENT, 2021)10
FIGURE 2.4: EXAMPLE OF IMPACT REPORT RELEASED BY B-LAB (B IMPACT ASSESSMENT, 2021)11
FIGURE 2.5: GRI SERIES SUMMARY DIAGRAM (GLOBAL REPORTING INITIATIVE, 2016A)
FIGURE 2.6: MATERIALITY MAP ACCORDING TO GRI (GLOBAL REPORTING INITIATIVE, 2016A). THE DOTS REPRESENT THE
DIFFERENT MATERIAL ASPECTS (ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL, AND SOCIAL), RESULTING FROM THE INTERPOLATION
BETWEEN THE PRIORITY FOR THE STAKEHOLDERS AND THE SIGNIFICANCE FOR THE COMPANY. THE FARTHER A DOT IS
FROM THE INTERSECTION OF THE AXES, THE MORE MATERIAL IT IS
FIGURE 2.7: SUMMARY DIAGRAM OF THE 5 DIMENSIONS OF SUSTAINABILITY AND THE 26 SUB-CATEGORIES (SASB, 2021E)
21
21 Figure 2.8: Composition of the Sustainable Industry Classification System (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 Figure 2.8: Composition of the Sustainable Industry Classification System (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 Figure 2.8: Composition of the Sustainable Industry Classification System (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
 21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018)
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018) 22 FIGURE 2.9: MATERIALITY MATRIX EXAMPLE (SASB, 2021D) 23 FIGURE 2.10: VALUE CREATION PROCESS ACCORDING TO IR (INTERNATIONAL INTEGRATED REPORTING COUNCIL (IIRC), 2013B) 25 FIGURE 2.11: FLOW CHART INHERENT TO THE SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FRAMEWORK (NAWAZ & KOÇ, 2018) 32 FIGURE 2.12: VISUAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE METAPHORICAL CONCEPTION OF THE FUNNEL AT THE BASE OF THE FSSD (BROMAN & ROBÈRT, 2017) 34 FIGURE 2.13: SUSTAINABILITY IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS THROUGH THE A-B-C-D MODEL DEVELOPED BY THE NATURAL STEP (THE NATURAL STEP, 2021B) 35 FIGURE 2.14: MATURITY MATRIX (BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTION, 2013A) 39
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018) 22 FIGURE 2.9: MATERIALITY MATRIX EXAMPLE (SASB, 2021d) 23 FIGURE 2.10: VALUE CREATION PROCESS ACCORDING TO IR (INTERNATIONAL INTEGRATED REPORTING COUNCIL (IIRC), 2013B) 25 FIGURE 2.11: FLOW CHART INHERENT TO THE SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FRAMEWORK (NAWAZ & KOÇ, 2018) 32 FIGURE 2.12: VISUAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE METAPHORICAL CONCEPTION OF THE FUNNEL AT THE BASE OF THE FSSD (BROMAN & ROBÈRT, 2017) 34 FIGURE 2.13: SUSTAINABILITY IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS THROUGH THE A-B-C-D MODEL DEVELOPED BY THE NATURAL STEP (THE NATURAL STEP, 2021B) 35 FIGURE 2.14: MATURITY MATRIX (BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTION, 2013A) 39 FIGURE 5.1: SIMPLIFIED REPRESENTATION OF THE FRAMEWORK AND ITS VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL DIMENSIONS 46
21 FIGURE 2.8: COMPOSITION OF THE SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (SICS) (SASB, 2018) 22 FIGURE 2.9: MATERIALITY MATRIX EXAMPLE (SASB, 2021D) 23 FIGURE 2.10: VALUE CREATION PROCESS ACCORDING TO IR (INTERNATIONAL INTEGRATED REPORTING COUNCIL (IIRC), 2013B) 25 FIGURE 2.11: FLOW CHART INHERENT TO THE SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FRAMEWORK (NAWAZ & KOC, 2018) 32 FIGURE 2.12: VISUAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE METAPHORICAL CONCEPTION OF THE FUNNEL AT THE BASE OF THE FSSD (BROMAN & ROBÈRT, 2017) 34 FIGURE 2.13: SUSTAINABILITY IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS THROUGH THE A-B-C-D MODEL DEVELOPED BY THE NATURAL STEP (THE NATURAL STEP, 2021B) 35 FIGURE 2.14: MATURITY MATRIX (BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTION, 2013A) 39 FIGURE 5.1: SIMPLIFIED REPRESENTATION OF THE FRAMEWORK AND ITS VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL DIMENSIONS 46 FIGURE 5.2: FLOW CHART REPRESENTATION OF THE QUESTIONNAIRE AND ITS SUBDIVISION WITHIN THE PHASES 47

FIGURE 5.4: FLOW CHART REPRESENTATION OF PHASE 0 OF THE FRAMEWORK
FIGURE 5.5: FLOW CHART REPRESENTATION OF PHASE I OF THE FRAMEWORK AND OF THE FIRST CHECKLIST
FIGURE 5.6 EXAMPLE OF STAKEHOLDER MAP (CARLETON ET AL., 2011)53
FIGURE 5.7: FLOW CHART REPRESENTATION OF PHASE II OF THE FRAMEWORK AND OF THE SECOND CHECKLIST
FIGURE 5.8: SCHEMATIZATION OF THE PILLAR GROUPING PROCESS
FIGURE 5.9: FLOW CHART REPRESENTATION OF PHASE III OF THE FRAMEWORK AND OF THE THIRD CHECKLIST
FIGURE 5.10: FLOW CHART REPRESENTATION OF PHASE IV OF THE FRAMEWORK
FIGURE 5.11: FRAMEWORK REPRESENTED BELOW FLOW CHART
FIGURE 6.1: METEOR PLATFORM OVERVIEW (ASTREA IT, 2018)85
FIGURE 6.2: EXAMPLE OF PHASE 1 OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
FIGURE 6.3: EXAMPLE OF HORIZONTAL DEVELOPMENT OF PHASE 1 OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
FIGURE 7.1: REPRESENTATION OF THE COMPLETED PHASE (PHASE 0) AND THE PATH REQUIRED FOR THE COMPLETION OF
Phase I
FIGURE 7.2: REPRESENTATION OF PHASE II OF THE FRAMEWORK
Figure 7.3: Level reached by the preliminary application of the framework. Green colour indicates
completed procedures. The blue colour indicates that the procedures are awaiting approval and/or
MODIFICATION BY THE STAKEHOLDERS. THE RED COLOUR INDICATES THE LEVEL NOT DEVELOPED YET 104
FIGURE 0.1: FIRST SECTION OF THE THEORETICAL NOTIONS DOCUMENT

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 0.1: RESPONSE RATE FOR EACH STANDARD/METHODOLOGY 127
TABLE 7.6: RESULTS RESULTING FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE MORPHOLOGICAL SCHEME FOR THE INTEGRATED PILLAR
TABLE 7.5: RESULTS RESULTING FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE MORPHOLOGICAL SCHEME FOR THE SOCIAL PILLAR 102
PILLAR
TABLE 7.4: RESULTS RESULTING FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE MORPHOLOGICAL SCHEME FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL
THE ESG PILLARS OF SUSTAINABILITY
TABLE 7.3: SCHEMATIC OF THE CORPORATE MATURITY WITH RESPECT TO THE PILLARS DEFINED BY BS 8900 PARALLEL TO
TABLE 7.2: DESCRIPTION OF THE 13 MATERIAL ASPECTS THAT EMERGED DURING THE SCREENING PHASE 92
THE CASE STUDY90
TABLE 7.1: MATURITY MATRIX PRE-FILLED BY SASB FOR THE PRODUCTION SECTOR AND THE SUB-CATEGORY INHERENT TO
TABLE 5.8: GUIDE TABLE FOR THE COMPILATION OF THE MORPHOLOGICAL SCHEME 79
TABLE 5.7: LOGICAL COMPARISONS INSERTED INSIDE THE FUNCTION + IF (AND)
TABLE 5.6: RESULTS NORMALIZED AND SUBSEQUENTLY REPORTED ON A NUMERICAL SCALE FROM 1 TO 374
COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES AND POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED70
TABLE 5.5: AVERAGE RESULTS NORMALIZED ON A 0-1 SCALE, OBTAINED AFTER COMBINING THE RESULTS RELATING TO
TABLE 5.4: AVERAGE/MODE RESULTS OBTAINED FROM THE PRELIMINARY DATA ANALYSIS OF THE QUESTIONNAIRE
COLLECTED IN THE QUESTIONNAIRE AND THEIR FINAL CLASSIFICATION IN A SCALE FROM 1 to 3 63
TABLE 5.3: CHRONOLOGICAL REPRESENTATION OF THE STEPS PERFORMED FOR THE NORMALISATION OF THE RESULTS
TABLE 5.2: EXAMPLE OF A COMPLETED MORPHOLOGICAL SCHEME FOR THE INTEGRATED PILLAR 58
TABLE 5.1: EXAMPLE OF MORPHOLOGICAL SCHEME COMPILED FOR THE ENVIRONMENTAL PILLAR 58
TABLE 2.3: EUROPEAN ESG RATING TOOLS
TABLE 2.2: INTERNATIONAL ESG RATING TOOLS 29
TABLE 2.1: SUMMARY TABLE OF THE MOST USED NON-FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEMS
TABLE 2.1. SUMMARY TABLE OF THE MOST LISED NON-EINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEMS 14

ABSTRACT

Sustainability concepts applied to organizations have recently come under the spotlight, as internal and external stakeholders are increasingly aware of these issues and push companies to implement sustainable principles and strategies in their business models.

In order to address this phenomenon, several tools have been developed to assist organizations in assessing sustainability and in the transition towards the implementation of these new principles. However, the lack of shared procedures, along with the proliferation of new practices, often not standardized, have led to uncertainties in selecting the most suitable tool or methodology to use.

This thesis aims at identifying and systematizing the most consolidated key processes and tools for evaluating, adopting, and implementing the concepts of integrated sustainability (environmental, social and economic/governance) within companies, then creating a logical tool, identified as a modular decision-making framework, that contains this information and allows companies or consultants to evaluate and implement their process of sustainable development.

Specifically, this dissertation will be divided into 4 parts. Firstly, the issues inherent to corporate sustainability will be explored. In particular, it will deal with integrated sustainability, available standards (environmental, social, economic, and integrated) such as ISO and BSI, certifications (e.g., B Corp), reporting tools (GRI, SASB, IR), rating tools (e.g., MSCI, SiRating, ecc) and frameworks (e.g., The Natural Step) that evaluate and implement corporate sustainability. This part will also discuss the uses and future developments of these tools, at national, European, and international level along with the needs that led to the development of the Framework presented in this thesis.

In the second part, the developed decision-making framework will be presented, first from the methodological point of view and then in its ICT implementation within a web-based tool. The decision-making framework aims at helping both business consultants – who support companies in the process of adopting and implementing sustainability–and companies willing to improve their corporate sustainability. In particular, the decision-making framework will help companies in following a flexible path for the evaluation of the material issues and the key externalities of the company, in the adoption and implementation of sustainability through a proactive approach and in the reporting the efforts spent towards sustainability. In the third part, the conceived Framework will be applied to a real case study, with the aim of verifying its functionality and potential problems. Lastly, the conclusions, the potentialities, the limitations, and the possible future improvements of the decision-making framework will be discussed.

IV

RATIONALE AND GOALS

In recent decades, concepts such as sustainability and sustainable development applied to companies have become an integral part of society, governments, and private entities. This phenomenon has occurred because the society is increasingly aware of the problems inherent to the anthropogenic impacts, such as climate change, biodiversity loss, pollution, overexploitation etc. Indeed, the consequences deriving from these negative externalities are already well known as well as the needs to safeguard the planet, to protect ecosystems and preserve ecosystem functions (Landrum & Ohsowski, 2018; Parmar et al., 2010; Steffen et al., 2015).

The company has always been the holder of both moral and legal obligations towards the reference society. Today, however, stakeholders are increasingly asking organizations to consider the environmental, social, and economic impacts generated by their activities. Furthermore, they are pushing companies towards the implementation of more sustainable and socially responsible production systems. Requiring organizations to concretize processes of assessment, implementation and reporting of sustainable medium/long-term principles and strategies.

Under these pressures, organizations have begun to report and manage their environmental, social but also economic impacts, both positive and negative, to improve their sustainability and transparency (Engida et al., 2018; Hoffenson et al., 2013; Jiang et al., 2018).

This phenomenon, however, has led to the proliferation of various methodologies and tools that could guide companies in the processes of evaluation, implementation, and reporting of sustainability and thus in their strategic transition towards sustainable development.

However, the lack of standardised methodologies and tools for sustainability assessment is creating uncertainty regarding the most suitable tool or methodology to be used by companies to achieve sustainable practices. This uncertainty is present when selecting the category of "tools" to be implemented (standards, rating tools, framework, etc.) as well as when selecting the specific tool to be used within the identified category (e.g., MSCI, SiRating).

For this reason, the need and opportunity were seen to create a modular logical tool, namely a decision-making framework that would allow the structuring of a strategic guideline that could help both consultants and companies, through a proactive approach, in the assessment, implementation, and reporting of corporate sustainability.

This thesis work aims firstly to deepen, identify, and systematize the most consolidated key processes and tools for evaluating, adopting, and implementing the concepts of sustainability (environmental, social, economic, and integrated) within companies.

V

Subsequently, the specific goal of this dissertation consists in the development of a guideline, i.e., the decision-making framework.

The aim is to design a tool that can guide companies in a flexible, cyclical, continuous and proactive way, in the process of identifying a personalized, objective, and strategic path of sustainable development. This will be allowed using different tools and methodologies implemented within the guideline through a structured and logical roadmap.

In particular, the decision-making framework aims at helping companies: i) in the assessment of material issues and key externalities through a process of bilateral interaction with the main stakeholders, ii) in the adoption and implementation of sustainability through a proactive approach and ii) in reporting their non-financial externalities.

By applying the tool to a real case study, it will also be possible to verify the functionality and possible problems of the developed roadmap and methodology and the tools selected and implemented within the framework.

Particular attention will be paid to the potentials and criticalities of the morphological scheme, conceived, and implemented with the purpose of being an objective screening decision-making process for choosing the most suitable tool or standard for a company based on its requests and characteristics relating to sustainable development.

STRUCTURE

The thesis is divided into four distinct sections. Section I, developed in chapters 1, 2, 3, 4, defines the theoretical background behind this dissertation. The second section, composed of chapters 5, 6, establishes the conceptual development of the modular decision-making framework. Section III, divided into chapters 7, 8, composes the application of the tool to a real case study and finally, the last section presents the conclusions of the work.

Within the theoretical section, some topics and concepts are introduced to deepen the theme inherent to corporate sustainability. This part is divided into four descriptive chapters. Chapter 1, "Sustainable development and corporate sustainability" explains the concepts of sustainable development, corporate sustainability and the related challenges and potentials.

Chapter 2, "Corporate Sustainability Tools" discusses the various tools designed and developed for the assessment, implementation and non-financial reporting of corporate sustainability and their main characteristics are analysed in depth. In Chapter 3, "Commitments and Future Prospects", possible future developments regarding the methodologies and tools for corporate sustainability assessment are examined. In the last chapter of this section, "Reasons that Induced to the Creation of the Framework", the various reasons that led to the development of a decision-making framework are illustrated.

Within the second section, the developed decision-making framework is presented. Initially, within chapter 5, "The modular Framework", the theoretical processes that led to the logical design of the macrostructure of this decision-making framework are described and subsequently the whole structure is represented by means a flowchart. With the last chapter of this section, "IT Development of the Flexible Decision-Making Framework", the web implementation of the conceptual framework is finally briefly discussed.

In the third section, the case study application is presented. Specifically, in Chapter 7 "Introduction to the case study and contextualization of the test company", a description of the company that tested the conceptual tool is initially reported and subsequently the results deriving from the application of the framework to the case study are described. Chapter 8, "Potential and criticality of the Framework" presents the potentials and the problems encountered during the application of the tool. Finally, the thesis concludes with the chapter "Discussion and Conclusion" where the potentials, limitations, and possible future improvements for the research inherent to the decision-making framework are dealt with.

VII

SECTION I: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

In this first section, a review of the theoretical foundations of corporate sustainability will be discussed. In particular, a definition of this term, its development within the companies and the underlying pillars will be provided first. Then the various most significant tools and standards that have been designed to evaluate, implement, and report on integrated sustainability will be critically disserted.

Subsequently, prospects and commitments at the National, European, and International level will be dealt with, through an in-depth study of the Green Deal and the European Taxonomy.

Finally, the reasons that led to the development of a decision-making framework that guides and assists the implementation process of these concepts by companies will be illustrated.

CHAPTER 1: Sustainable development and corporate sustainability

Many of today's environmental and social challenges are the result of unsustainable economic and industrial development models (Asif & Searcy, 2014; Formentini & Taticchi, 2016) and are pushing companies towards more conscious management.

Citizens, increasingly aware of the anthropic impacts related to climate change, modification of biogeochemical flows and changes in the integrity of the biosphere with related social and moral consequences, which are mostly affecting the poorest classes and the future generations, are forcing companies to be more transparent and to properly consider the externalities of their operations (Landrum & Ohsowski, 2018; Parmar et al., 2010; Pope Francis, 2015; Steffen et al., 2015).

Organizations undergoing these pressures from different groups of both external and internal stakeholders are looking for ways to minimize and report the various negative environmental, social but also economic externalities, in order to improve their sustainability and transparency (Engida et al., 2018; Hoffenson et al., 2013; Jiang et al., 2018).

Over the last decade, concepts such as sustainable development and sustainability have increasingly become part of the collective of companies and the integration of these principles in key activities has led to a positive impact on the performance of the organizations (Grewal & Serafeim, 2020; Ioannis; Ioannou & Serafeim, 2019).

However, these concepts, on a global level, are not emphasized and structured in the same way. European companies, for example, are much more sensitive to environmental issues, while

American companies are more keen on social sustainability within the organization (del Mar Alonso-Almeida et al., 2014).

In the twentieth century, there was the game-changer that opened the way to the debate on sustainability between public opinion, national governments, and the business world, following the interest on the part of the international community in the effects that the development of human societies has on the environment. More precisely in 1983, the World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED) was established with the aim of outlining long-term strategies for achieving sustainable development for the years 2000 and later. This commission had the task of translating the concern about environmental problems into greater cooperation between the various countries, by also considering the close link between people, the environment and development. All this resulted in the document "Our common future" (World Commission for Environmental and Development is described for the first time as: "a development that satisfies present needs without compromising the possibility of future generations to satisfy their own" (World Commission for Environmental and Development, 1987).

Nowadays, sustainability for business is considered the paradigm of the 21st century. Indeed, in the last 10 years, investors have begun to pay increasingly attention to ESG (environmental, social and governance) performance such as information on corporate emissions, transparency, and worker safety, thus becoming today some of the important factors that are incorporated in the decision-making choice of investors and therefore of interest to the organizations themselves. The importance of addressing these aspects can be observed in the Deliveroo case, the worst debut ever on the London stock exchange. Due to various factors including the lack of ESG sustainability, especially for the social pillar, Deliveroo has seen its financial assessment decreased by about 30% (Financial Times, 2021; Garcia et al., 2016; Il Sole 24 Ore, 2021; Serafeim, 2020).

In 2018, 89% of the Global 500, the 500 largest corporate groups worldwide by revenue, committed themselves to emission reduction targets, with a percentage growth of + 59% compared to 2009 (Freiberg, D., Grewal, J. and Serafeim, 2020; Grewal & Serafeim, 2020).

Additionally, in 2019 more than 9,500 companies from 160 countries around the world began to arouse interest in implementing the concepts of sustainability as an essential part of their business (Freiberg, D., Grewal, J. and Serafeim, 2020; Grewal & Serafeim, 2020; Nunhes et al., 2020; United Nations Global Compact, 2021).

However, defining corporate sustainability is not easy, since there is not yet a single and standardized definition (Montiel & Delgado-Ceballos, 2014).

To this end, Figure 1.1 shows how the concepts of sustainable development and corporate sustainability are interconnected.



Figure 1.1: Interconnection between sustainable development and corporate sustainability (Baumgartner & Ebner, 2010)

Corporate sustainability can be defined as the application of sustainable development within organizations and how it is defined through the 3 pillars of the triple bottom line (TBL), social, environmental and economic, and deals with their balanced and integrated development (Baumgartner & Ebner, 2010; Joshi & Li, 2016; Moldavska & Welo, 2017; Montiel & Delgado-Ceballos, 2014; Nawaz & Koç, 2019; Nunhes et al., 2020; Roca & Searcy, 2012).

Through the definition of the Brundtland Commission (World Commission for Environmental and Development, 1987), therefore, a sustainable company can be defined as that organization that implements a long-term systemic vision within its borders, and that seeks to identify and manage externalities and associated risks, involving and communicating the results to interested parties, both internal and external, satisfying their current needs without compromising those of future stakeholders, also committing to use natural resources so that they are not depleted faster than regeneration rates (Holton et al., 2010; Joshi & Li, 2016; Nawaz & Koç, 2019).

To ensure the successful implementation of sustainability concepts, companies must make a substantial change in their "business as usual", starting to define new long-term strategies and operate in order to identify how to put into practice a focused vision on sustainability through a stakeholder engagement network, monitoring of externalities and non-financial evaluation of their processes, raising awareness that they are operating in a sensitive integrated system (Bocken et al., 2014; Busco et al., 2020; Eccles et al., 2014; Gonzalez-Perez & Leonard, 2015; Holton et al., 2010; Jolliet et al., 2016; Joshi & Li, 2016; Linnenluecke & Griffiths, 2010; Montiel & Delgado-Ceballos, 2014; Mura et al., 2018; Nunhes et al., 2020; Valente, 2012).

A company that has implemented the concepts of sustainability in a decisive and real way, not only has competitive advantages over other companies in terms of efficiency in the use of resources and reputation, but also it has greater resilience and resistance, as emerged from several studies carried out during the Covid-19 pandemic. Specifically, sustainable companies can more dynamically face the new challenges that the excessive exploitation of the planet and climate change are causing directly and indirectly (Birkin et al., 2020; Kaplan, 2020; KPMG, 2020; Sun, 2020).

Certainty, climate, environmental, social and health crises will become increasingly prevalent in the future. A 2012 survey by KPMG, one of the 4 most important consulting firms, identified 10 forcings, called mega-forces, schematically represented in Figure 1.2, which will have a dominant impact on the development of organizations over the next 20 years (KPMG, 2012).



Figure 1.2: Mega forces connected to sustainability that will have an impact on company growth (KPMG, 2012)

CHAPTER 2: Corporate sustainability tools

In parallel with the development of concepts relating to corporate sustainability, various standardized methodologies and tools have been devised to evaluate, develop and report sustainability within organizations which can be grouped into 4 macro-areas (standards & certifications, non-financial reporting systems, rating tools and frameworks) as presented in Figure 2.1 (Gimenez et al., 2012; Moldavska & Welo, 2017; Siew, 2015).

The common point of these methods is the dialogue with the stakeholders and the measurement or management of corporate performance from a TBL/ESG¹ perspective, i.e. evaluating sustainability at an environmental, social, economic/governance or integrated level (Maas et al., 2016).

In the following paragraphs, a detailed description of the 4 macro-areas (i.e., standards & certifications, non-financial reporting systems, rating tools and frameworks) will be presented.



Figure 2.1: Methods for evaluating, implementing, and reporting corporate sustainability

¹ TBL: triple bottom line

ESG: environmental, social and governance

2.1. Standards and certifications

Sustainability, based on the integrated triple bottom line vision, is implemented, identified and verified within companies through the use of standardized management tools, such as, for example, the ISO 14001 environmental management system for environmental capital, the ISO 9001 quality management system for the economic one and the ISO 26000 corporate social responsibility standard for the social dimension, as reported in Figure 2.2, where some of the most important standards divided by type of capital are listed (Baumgartner, 2014; Engert et al., 2016; Gimenez et al., 2012; Grimm et al., 2016; Hahn, 2012; Holton et al., 2010; Jin & Bai, 2011; Moldavska & Welo, 2017; Nunhes et al., 2020; Siew, 2015).

The standards reported in Figure 2.2 are defined as management systems and guidelines for accounting the TBL sustainability issues. These deal with different sub-themes both separately, such as the management of environmental capital and the maintenance of its ecosystem properties or the management of stakeholders and multi-capitally, which integrate two or more dimensions of sustainability (ISO, 2021; Lozano & Huisingh, 2011; Nawaz & Koç, 2018; Nunhes et al., 2019, 2020).

TBL Focus Area(s)	Management Standard/Guideline/Regulation					
Economic	 - ISO 9001 Quality management system - ISO 44001 Collaborative business relationship management systems - ISO 37001 Anti-bribery management system - ISO 22301 Business continuity management system 					
Environmental - ISO 14001 and EMAS—Environmental management system - ISO/DIS 24526 Water efficiency management systems - ISO 50001 Energy management system - ISO 14064 Carbon management system						
Social	 ISO 45001 Occupational health and safety management system ISO 18788 Management system for private security operations SA 8000 Social Accountability 					
Economic, environmental and social	 ISO 19600 Compliance management system and AA1000AS Assurance standard ISO 28001 Security management system for the supply chain ISO/IEC 27001 Information security management system and ISO/IEC 2000-1 Service management system ISO 30401 Human resource management—Knowledge management systems ISO 31000 Risk management system ISO 26000 Guidance on social responsibility British BSI PAS 99; Danish DS 8001; Spanish UNE 66177; Australia/New Zealand AS/NZS4581 Integrated management system BS 8900 Managing sustainable development 					

Figure 2.2: Some of the most important Standards with a focus on TBL divided by type of capital (Nunhes et al., 2020)

The proliferation of these standards is boosted by stakeholders, who are increasingly interested in how companies manage their negative externalities on the environment and society and how these are dealt with between different companies and industrial sectors (ISO, 2021). Already in 2010, about 15% of companies required their subcontractors to comply with sustainability standards, as well as to provide proof of their commitment through certifications such as ISO 14001, the environmental management system, as well as the less known EMAS, the European standard of ecomanagement and European level audit and SA8000, a management standard that encourages organizations to develop, maintain and apply sustainable social practices in the workplace (European Commission, 2021a; Grimm et al., 2016).

Today, however, many stakeholders are emphasising that companies implement sustainability standards without the real commitment of modifying their business model towards more sustainable practices, but only to obtain certifications expendable on the market to attract more clients. This is the case of organizations that use certifications derived from standards with the sole purpose of increasing their reputation with respect to competitors and therefore without a long-term strategy oriented towards sustainable development (Gianni et al., 2017; Nunhes et al., 2020; Witjes et al., 2017).

Despite this, scientific research demonstrates forms of effective sustainability implementation for these tools, in particular for ISO 14001, where some studies identify positive externalities also in the social and economic pillars due to, for example, both the increase in process efficiency and transparency on the market (Asif et al., 2013; Brammer et al., 2012; Curkovic & Sroufe, 2011; Daddi et al., 2011; Delmas et al., 2011; Maletic et al., 2015; Neves et al., 2017; Uhlaner et al., 2012; Upstill-Goddard et al., 2016).

2.1.1. B Corporation

In addition to the standardized methodologies reported in Figure 2.2, other tools providing sustainability certifications are starting to take hold, as the case of the B-corporation, one of the most recent and widespread labels/certifications related to corporate sustainability (B Corpation, 2021).

The B Corporation certification (B Corp) is a corporate certification which is issued to those entities that voluntarily and formally commit to the production, in an integrated way, both at spatial and temporal level, of advantages and social and environmental benefits while implementing economic capital and increasing and creating value (B Corporation, 2021b, 2021a).

Today, the B Corporation certified companies cover 150 industrial sectors divided into more than 70 countries worldwide. In the Italian landscape there are more than 100 companies that have the B Corp certification.

The first step to obtaining the B-Corp certification is to evaluate and provide information on how the company is implementing and increasing the value for the company through the B impact assessment, a tool that evaluates the impact of the company business model and which investigates how the organization interacts internally with employees and customers and externally with the community and the environment, providing a score between 0 and 200 at the end of the assessment. For all the companies that obtain the threshold score of 80 points, the certification is issued by B Lab, the certifying body for B-Corp companies (B Lab, 2019).

In Figure 2.3 it is possible to observe the numerical reference scale for B-Corp scores.



Figure 2.3: Numerical reference scale for B-Corp (B impact Assessment, 2021)

B-Lab also offers, through its own database, the possibility of comparing the various certified companies through an intra and inter-company benchmarking process, providing information on both how the organization is positioned compared to competing companies or other organization and how it has improved compared to its previous assessment. This process is similar to the Benchmarking process offered by ESG² rating companies and described in the chapter on Rating tools. The overall impact of the organization is calculated based on 4 impact areas: governance, workers, community, and environment. The sum of the score obtained for each impact areas creates the final score for the B-Corp (Figure 2.4) (B impact Assessment, 2021).

² ESG: environmental, social and governance

B Impact Report	Average score of other	King Arthur Flour
Impact Area	businesses*	Company
Rovernance	10	14
Transparency	6	10
Accountability	3	4
Morkers	22	61
Compensation, Benefits & Training	15	18
Worker Ownership	2	37
Work Environment	4	6
🚱 Community	32	16
Community Products & Services	15	0
Suppliers & Distributors	4	2
Local Involvement	5	4
Job Creation	2	1
Diversity	2	3
Civic Engagement & Giving	4	5
Ø Environment	9	12
Environmental Products & Services	4	1
Land, Office, Plant	4	5
Inputs	2	2
Outputs	1	1
Transportation, Distribution & Suppliers	1	2

*Of all businesses that have completed the B Impact Assessment.

Figure 2.4: Example of Impact Report released by B-Lab (B impact Assessment, 2021)

Based on the principles of the B-Corp and in parallel with its implementation, a new legal form was introduced, first in the USA, and subsequently in Italy from 2016, which takes the name of Benefit Corporation, called in Italian "Società Benefit".

The Benefit Companies, today more than 500 in Italy, represent an evolution of the concept of standard company. They are for-profit companies that want to balance financial and non-financial interests when making decisions by working in an integrated way on the economic, social and environmental pillars (B Corporation, 2021c, 2021a; B Lab Europe, 2021).

2.2. Reporting tools

Recently, companies, also through the mediation of international organizations such as UN, GRI and SASB³, have begun to report, with increasing frequency, their sustainability, in the face of the diffusion of specific regulations, especially in Europe, addressed to large companies (Sofian & Dumitru, 2017; Tschopp & Huefner, 2015).

Specifically, in 2014, following previous developments at Member States level, such as the French Grenelle Act of 2012 which introduced the reporting of both the social and environmental impacts and the commitment to the development of a sustainable community for the main national companies, the EU first approved and subsequently issued Directive 2014/95/EU, for mandatory non-financial reporting for companies larger than 500 employees (Cheng et al., 2014; Dienes et al., 2016; European Parliament, 2014; Simnett & Huggins, 2015; Villiers, 2014).

In Italy, the obligation for large national public interest entities⁴ to draw up and publish a nonfinancial statement was introduced with Legislative Decree 254 of 12/30/16, implementing the "Barnier Directive", 2014/95/EU (Amelio et al., 2018).

In virtue of these pressures, including institutional ones, from 2012 to 2017 there was a worldwide increase of + 60% in sustainability reports, reaching 80% of the S&P 500 companies (Ioannis Ioannou & Serafeim, 2017). If only the world's largest companies are considered, this figure increases, reaching 90-95% (Ernst & Young, 2014; Ioannis Ioannou & Serafeim, 2017; King & Bartels, 2015; Landrum & Ohsowski, 2018; Tschopp & Huefner, 2015).

Non-financial reporting tools, which are non-mandatory methodologies, have the purpose of transparently communicating to the various stakeholders, through reports or dedicated pages on websites, the information and commitments of companies towards the implementation of sustainability. This is reported through various indicators, which evaluate the pillars from an ESG (economic, social and governance) or TBL (triple bottom line) perspective both quantitatively and qualitatively (Rupley et al., 2017; Siew, 2015).

³ UN: United Nations

GRI: Global Reporting Initiative

SASB: Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

⁴ Italian companies issuing stock title admitted to trading on Italian and European Union regulated markets, banks, insurance companies, reinsurance companies with registered office in Italy and secondary offices in Italy of non-EU reinsurance companies with more than 500 employees who, at the balance sheet date, have exceeded at least one of the following two-dimensional limits: a) total balance sheet: € 20,000,000; b) total net revenues from sales and services: 40,000,000 euros.

Transparency is a key concept for non-financial reporting systems and, at the same time, the reporting tools are a vehicle for implementing more effectively a process that induces such transparency (Fernandez-Feijoo et al., 2014).

The motivation that drives companies to use these tools, although being mandatory for some, can be described through 6 key objectives (Crane & Glozer, 2016; Du et al., 2010; Landrum & Ohsowski, 2018):

- 1) building a network of relationships with stakeholders;
- 2) improvement of reputation;
- 3) communicate the commitments undertaken towards sustainable development;
- 4) change consumer behaviour with awareness campaigns;
- 5) communicate how the company undertakes stakeholder requests;
- 6) create a transparent corporate identity.

Two of the key themes that the various non-financial reporting tools have in common are stakeholder engagement and materiality assessed through maps or matrices. These are strategic tools that companies can use to define the risks and opportunities derived from sustainability (KPMG International, 2014).

Materiality, used previously within the financial reporting systems and now incorporated in the nonfinancial ones, is a changing concept in continuous evolution that leads to a lack of unified definition, the ISA (International Standard on Auditing) in fact, has abandoned the idea of providing a standard definition of materiality, while focusing on the general peculiarities of the concept, thus accepting that companies can define materiality in different ways (Edgley, 2014; Edgley et al., 2015; Lai et al., 2017).

Unlike materiality assessed in financial reporting, in the non-financial one, the most impacting negative externalities concerning environmental, social and economic sustainability are identified and evaluated and should be determined through both a broader social expectation and the influence of the company on suppliers (upstream) and customers (downstream) (CDP et al., 2016; Global Reporting Initiative, 2016a; KPMG International, 2014).

The company's material aspects are those relevant issues that should be prioritised, and which reflect the interests and needs, not only of the internal stakeholders of the company, but also of the

external ones. Additionally, a material aspect can be considered as such if it can affect the performance and reputation of the company in the long term (Hsu et al., 2013; Mio, 2013).

Furthermore, the material aspects also include externalities that in the short term may not be considered relevant to address, but which, if neglected, have the potential to become difficult to manage in the medium/long term, thus becoming critical and relevant (International Integrated Reporting Council, 2021).

Different tools can be used to assess the significance of the various externalities. For example, to define the priority aspects, companies have begun to involve the stakeholders in defining with them, at the ESG level, the relevant impacts/externalities, using maps o graphs representing the dimensions of interest/relevance (Eccles et al., 2012).

The three most used non-financial reporting systems or CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility Reporting) are GRI, SASB, IR⁵ as reported in Table 2.1 along with their main characteristics. These systems are described in detail in the following paragraphs.

	GRI	SASB	IR
Target	Stakeholders	Investors	Investors
Aims	Reporting of its own economic, environmental and/or social impacts, towards the goal of sustainable	Communication to investors on issues relating to sustainability	Demonstrate to financial capital providers how an organization can create value over time
Standard	development 4 series: General 100, Specifications: Economic 200, Environmental 300, Social 400	77 Standards divided into 11 sectors	It does not require the representation of key performance indicators, nor the use of specific measurement methods, nor to report on individual aspects.
Materiality	The company undertakes to study and understand corporate externalities	Preliminary materiality matrix present on the website that allows to observe the main	The company must identify the relevant aspects (those that

⁵ GRI: Global Reporting Initiative

SASB: Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

IR: Integrated Reporting

		impacts that the	affect the creation of
		company and	value)
		competing companies	
		(same production	
		sector) can cause	
			An IR can be drawn up
	A sustainability report	Sustainability reports,	as an independent
Applicability	is created through	integrated reports,	document, section,
Applicability	standardized	websites, or annual	distinctive of another
	guidelines	shareholder reports	report or other form of
			communication
	Most used in the		Overall, the absence of
	dratting of		targeted standards that
Usability	sustainability reports	Nore recent and less	can be used makes this
	thanks to its approach.	consolidated	Framework difficult to
	Older and more		implement
Una in 2015	established		
Use in 2015			
within the			
reports (Ernst &	86%		
Young & Boston (dropped from 9		11%	4%
College Centre,	2012)		
2014; Landrum &			
Ohsowski, 2018)			

2.2.1. Global Reporting Initiative

The Global Reporting Initiative, GRI, is the standard reporting format most used by companies to report, in an integrated and interconnected way, the non-financial externalities (environmental, social and economic), both positive and negative, and the company's commitments towards sustainable development (Christofi et al., 2012; Global Reporting Initiative, 2016a; James, 2015; Levy et al., 2010; Lueg et al., 2016; Marimon et al., 2012; Roca & Searcy, 2012).

The GRI Standards were designed with the aim of creating a guideline, which could have the same rigor as the financial report. Especially, the purpose was to devise a process, according to a standardized criterion, which would allow companies to clearly and uniquely identify a complete view of the various significant impacts (Ioannis Ioannou & Serafeim, 2017; Marimon et al., 2012) and to communicate them to stakeholders (internal and external).

Specifically, the GRI, try to provide an overall representation of the material issues and how they are managed, so as to be able to guarantee greater transparency and awareness about these aspects (Kiliç & Kuzey, 2018).

This mechanism allows stakeholders to make informed decisions about the use of services or the acquisition of assets and shareholders to transparently judge their investment (del Mar Alonso-Almeida et al., 2014).

Reporting non-financial externalities using the GRI standard should be performed through the application of the GRI Framework that identifies the contents to be included in the non-financial balance and the related indicators used to report the ESG⁶ performance of an organization.

At the base of this standard, six key principles have been identified: reliability, clarity, balance, comparability, accuracy and timeliness (Fernandez-Feijoo et al., 2014).

Specifically, the GRI is made up of 4 series, 3 called Universal and one composed of the series relating to the various pillars of sustainability (economic, environmental, and social) as reported in Figure 2.5.

The three 100 series called Universal section consists of 3 subsections:

- GRI 101, Reporting Principles: this section is related to the essential requirements for reporting in compliance with GRI standards (Global Reporting Initiative, 2016a);

⁶ ESG: environmental, social and governance

- GRI 102 General disclosure: guideline that provides information on how to draw up the report and define the profile and characteristics of the company and the process of involving interested parties (Global Reporting Initiative, 2016b);
- GRI 103 Management approach: provide information on what material topics are identified, the intensity and area of impact and how the individual material topics are managed (Global Reporting Initiative, 2016c).

The series relating to the various pillars of sustainability are divided as follows: economic (series 200), environmental (series 300) and social (series 400).



Figure 2.5: GRI series summary diagram (Global Reporting Initiative, 2016a)

One of the key themes of the Global Reporting Initiative, present within the 100 series, is the materiality, a moment in which an organization begins a concrete open discussion to define and understand its own particular situation (Global Reporting Initiative, 2016a).

For GRI, materiality is the cardinal principle that defines which aspects are relevant to internal and external stakeholders that are sufficiently important to make reporting essential, since not all material issues have the same importance.

GRI, to define the importance of a material issue, proposes the use, through the involvement of key stakeholders, of a map that defines the importance of externality (economic, social, or environmental) in the horizontal axis and the influence for stakeholders in the vertical one. The more significant a theme is, the more it will be placed during the impact assessment in the most extreme part of the graph, while the closer it will be to the intersection of the axes, the more it will not be important. An example of a materiality map drawn up through GRI is shown in Figure 2.6.



Figure 2.6: Materiality map according to GRI (Global Reporting Initiative, 2016a). The dots represent the different material aspects (economic, environmental, and social), resulting from the interpolation between the priority for the stakeholders and the significance for the company. The farther a dot is from the intersection of the axes, the more material it is.

In order to produce a report compliant with the Global Reporting Initiative a company must, first of all, apply the reporting principles (GRI 101) to define the contents of the report and to identify the material issues (environmental, social, economic) to be considered by developing the materiality map.

Once the material issues are identified, the specific standards to be applied can be selected according to the specific topic to assess (Global Reporting Initiative 2016a):

- GRI 200 for economic aspects (composed of series from 201 to 207);
- GRI 300 for environmental aspect (defined by series from 301 to 308);
- and GRI 400 for social aspect (consisting of series 401 to 419).

2.2.2. Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

In 2012 the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB), driven by the convincement that only the analysis of material non-financial aspects and the information related to them could determine the potential financial risks for a company, undertook the process of identifying a wide variability of risks related to financial issues. This led to the development of a system of standards, approved by a commission of various stakeholders in 2018, which allows the reporting of sustainability at the level of a single industrial sector and which is based on the principles of diversification and uniqueness of sustainability, i.e. supporting the hypothesis that each type of business has its own and unique sustainability profile (Busco et al., 2020; Rodriguez et al., 2017; Rupley et al., 2017).

SASB's goal is to devise, through the use of quantitative standards capable of identifying the externalities potentially relevant to long-term corporate performance, a reporting system for ESG (environmental, social and governance) issues, which can have the same reliability as financial reporting systems (Busco et al., 2020; SASB, 2021c).

The indicators of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board characterize the set of opportunities and risks related to sustainable development that are likely to affect the business and company performance and therefore of probable importance for investors (SASB, 2021f).

A company that decides to use the SASB Standards to report its sustainability-related performance can independently determine which indicators are relevant and use them based on the material topics identified, and then select how to communicate the results obtained using any mechanism of existing disclosure (Rupley et al., 2017; SASB, 2021b).

SASB, as reported in Figure 2.7, defines 26 impact categories divided into 5 dimensions (environment, social capital, human capital, business model & innovation and leadership & governance) inherent to sustainability, effectively separating ESG into more precise and punctual sub-pillars (SASB, 2021e).

The <u>environmental dimension</u> includes all the externalities produced through the direct and indirect exploitation of non-renewable natural resources and which can have an impact on the performance and therefore on the financial condition of organizations.

The dimension defined as social within the ESG system is divided by SASB into two subsections. One external to the organization, called the <u>social capital</u>, which includes the management of interactions related to all those businesses located outside the company, such as the public sector, local communities, and governments and which intervenes, for example, in matters relating to human rights and equality gender. Instead, the second subsection, called <u>Human capital</u>, represents

the dimension of the internal problems of the organizations and includes the management of all human resources and intervenes in matters relating to the health, safety, and productivity of workers.

The last two dimensions identified by SASB, i.e., the <u>business model & innovation</u> and the <u>leadership</u> <u>& governance</u>, cover the economic sector of the ESG model.

The first aspect looks at how social issues, from the broader point of view of design, can be integrated with environmental issues to achieve long-term value increases.

The last pillar covers the strategic management of corporate issues that have the potential to conflict with the interests of stakeholders and which therefore could determine a problem with the business model. These issues can include the phenomena of bribery and corruption, anti-competitive and risk management.

Environment

- GHG Emissions
- Air Quality
- Energy Management
- Water & Wastewater Management
- Waste & Hazardous Materials Management
- Ecological Impacts

Leadership & Governance

- Business Ethics
- Competitive Behavior
- Management of the Legal & Regulatory Environment
- Critical Incident Risk Management
- Systemic Risk Management



Business Model & Innovation

- · Product Design & Lifecycle Management
- · Business Model Resilience
- Supply Chain Management
- · Materials Sourcing & Efficiency
- · Physical Impacts of Climate Change

Social Capital

- Human Rights & Community Relations
- Customer Privacy
- Data Security
- Access & Affordability
- · Product Quality & Safety
- Customer Welfare
- Selling Practices & Product Labeling

Human Capital

- · Labor Practices
- Employee Health & Safety
- Employee Engagement, Diversity & Inclusion

Figure 2.7: Summary diagram of the 5 dimensions of sustainability and the 26 sub-categories (SASB, 2021e)

As previously introduced, according to SASB the importance of the 26th sub-categories, reported in Figure 2.7, changes in compliance with the different company sectors identified in Figure 2.8 to facilitate companies' understanding of their various potential externalities. Accordingly, the Sustainable Industry Classification System ™ (SICS) was created which is composed of 11 corporate macro-sectors and 77 subsections, as reported in Figure 2.8, that uses sustainability profiles to group similar companies on the basis of their sustainability-related risks and opportunities. This system is at the basis of the interactive materiality matrix that SASB provides to simplify the process of identifying the material topics and metrics. The provided materiality matrix can be used both by the various organizations and by investors, who can analyse the risks and opportunities of specific sustainability issues represented in Figure 2.7.

CONSUMER GOODS

- > Apparel, Accessories & Footwear
- Appliance Manufacturing
- > Building Products & Furnishings
- > E-Commerce
- Household & Personal Products
 Multiline and Specialty
- Retailers & Distributors
- > Toys & Sporting Goods

EXTRACTIVES & MINERALS PROCESSING

- Coal Operations
- > Construction Materials
- > Iron & Steel Producers
- > Metals & Mining
- > Oil & Gas Exploration & Production
- > Oil & Gas Midstream
- Oil & Gas Refining & Marketing
 Oil & Gas Services

FINANCIALS

- > Asset Management & Custody Activities
- > Commercial Banks
- > Consumer Finance
- > Insurance
- > Investment Banking & Brokerage
- Mortgage Finance
- Security & Commodity Exchanges

FOOD & BEVERAGE

- Agricultural Products
- Alcoholic Beverages
- > Food Retailers & Distributors
- Meat, Poultry & Dairy
- Non-Alcoholic Beverages
- > Processed Foods
- Restaurants
- Tobacco

HEALTH CARE

- > Biotechnology & Pharmaceuticals
- Drug Retailers
- Health Care Delivery
- > Health Care Distributors
- Managed Care
- > Medical Equipment & Supplies

INFRASTRUCTURE

- > Electric Utilities & Power Generators
- > Engineering & Construction Services
- Gas Utilities & Distributors
- › Home Builders
- > Real Estate
- > Real Estate Services
- > Waste Management
- Water Utilities & Services

RENEWABLE RESOURCES & ALTERNATIVE ENERGY

- > Biofuels
- Forestry Management
- > Fuel Cells & Industrial Batteries
- Pulp & Paper Products
- > Solar Technology & Project Developers
- > Wind Technology & Project Developers

RESOURCE TRANSFORMATION

- > Aerospace & Defense
- > Chemicals
- > Containers & Packaging
- > Electrical & Electronic Equipment
- > Industrial Machinery & Goods

SERVICES

- > Advertising & Marketing
- > Casinos & Gaming
- Education
- Hotels & Lodging
- Leisure Facilities
- Media & Entertainment
- > Professional & Commercial Services

TECHNOLOGY &

- Electronic Manufacturing Services & Original Design Manufacturing
- Hardware
- Internet Media & Services
- Semiconductors
- Software & IT Services
- Telecommunication Services

TRANSPORTATION

- > Air Freight & Logistics
- Airlines
- Auto Parts
- > Automobiles
- Car Rental & Leasing
 Cruise Lines
- Masia 7
- > Marine Transportation
- Rail Transportation
- Road Transportation

Figure 2.8: Composition of the Sustainable Industry Classification System (SICS) (SASB, 2018)

The materiality map created by SASB identifies the criticalities linked to sustainability, defining them at the level of probability of relevance for that particular industry sector that can influence both the financial conditions and the operating performance of the companies within one of the sectors defined by the SICS (SASB, 2021d).

As reported in Figure 2.9, the materiality map is a matrix that contains, in the second column on the left side, the 26 business issues divided according to the 5 dimensions of sustainability (first column on the left side) and in the first row the industrial sectors to which they belong. The map has different colours, from dark grey to white, based on the intensity of the material aspect, that is the probability that the environmental issue is relevant or not for that industrial sector.

		Consumer Goods	Extractives & Minerals Processing							
Dimension	General Issue Category ⁽¹⁾	Click to expand	Coal Operations	Construction Materials	Iron & Steel Producers	Metals & Mining	Oil & Gas – Exploration & Production	Oil & Gas – Midstream	Oil & Gas – Refining & Marketing	Oil & Gas – Services
	GHG Emissions									
	Air Quality									
Faulte and out	Energy Management									
Environment	Water & Wastewater Management									
	Waste & Hazardous Materials Management									
	Ecological Impacts									
	Human Rights & Community Relations									
	Customer Privacy									
	Data Security									
Social Capital	Access & Affordability									
copital	Product Quality & Safety									
	Customer Welfare									
	Selling Practices & Product Labeling									
	Labor Practices									
Human Capital	Employee Health & Safety									
copros	Employee Engagement, Diversity & Inclusion									
	Product Design & Lifecycle Management									
Business	Business Model Resilience									
Model &	Supply Chain Management									
Innovation	Materials Sourcing & Efficiency									
	Physical Impacts of Climate Change									
	Business Ethics									
Leadership & Governance	Competitive Behavior									
	Management of the Legal & Regulatory Environment									
	Critical Incident Risk Management									
	Systemic Risk Management									

Figure 2.9: Materiality matrix example (SASB, 2021d)
2.2.3. Integrated Reporting

The sustainability reports discussed so far (i.e., GRI and SASB) are drawn up separately from the financial information. Due to this, in recent years, the need for an integrated system that would allow a comprehensive and concise vision of the main financial and non-financial material externalities that affect the performance and sustainability of a company has arisen (Atkins & Maroun, 2015; Kılıç & Kuzey, 2018; Robertson & Samy, 2015).

For this reason, in 2011, the International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) started the process of devising a Multidimensional Framework called Integrated Reporting (IR), that was finalised at the end of 2013 after several multi shareholder/stakeholder consultations.

The purpose of the framework is to integrate both financial and ESG (environmental, social and governance) information through holistic and synthetic reporting based on a multi-capital principle⁷. This simplified form of reporting may be able to define the most significant material aspects for the value creation process in the short, medium, and long term (Dumay et al., 2017; Edgley et al., 2015; M. Fasan, 2017; Marco Fasan & Mio, 2017; International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), 2013a; International Integrated Reporting Council, 2021; Magrassi & Raoli, 2018; PwC, 2016; Silvestri et al., 2017).

The IIRC believes that IR is an extension and evolution of current corporate reporting, arguing for two concepts. The first, that through integrated thinking, this reporting tool is able to incorporate a wider range of information than traditional reporting models. The second is that this framework, by means of integrated decision-making processes, allows companies to contribute positively and simultaneously to both sustainable development and financial growth (IIRC, 2014, 2016; International Integrated Reporting Council, 2021; Simnett & Huggins, 2015; Sofian & Dumitru, 2017).

South Africa was the first Nation to introduce the obligation for companies listed on the stock exchange, to provide information through integrated reporting using the "apply or explain"⁸ approach (International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), 2013b; Kılıç & Kuzey, 2018; Simnett & Huggins, 2015).

⁷ Multi-capital principle refers to the integrated sustainability assessment which includes the ESG (environmental, social and governance) pillars and the financial issues.

⁸ It is the obligation to explain the reason for any renunciation of the application of the integrated report to the organization.

Subsequently, other companies from around the world, recognizing both internal and external benefits such as risk reduction and more accurate resource allocation, began publishing integrated reports on a voluntary basis, reaching 165 companies in 2017 (Eccles & Saltzman, 2011; Sofian & Dumitru, 2017).

IIRC has defined the integrated report through the identification of 7 guiding principles (strategic focus and orientation to the future, connectivity of information, relations with stakeholders, materiality, syntheticity, reliability and completeness, coherence and comparability) and 6 capitals, also called values, (<u>financial</u>, <u>productive</u>, <u>intellectual</u>, such as copyright and licensing, <u>human</u>, <u>social and relational</u> and <u>natural</u>, in the context of ecosystem services) as defined in Figure 2.10. However, there is no obligation for companies to follow this structure when reporting according to the IR and there are no obligations on the selection of the reporting system to be adopted, thus leaving the company to decide on the structure to be used, like for any other form of communication (International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), 2013b; International Integrated Reporting Council, 2021).

An integrated report defines, through both quantitative and qualitative indicators, such as KPIs⁹, the journey that a company need to follow to generate value for the different capitals mentioned above over time, by considering the external environment, the methods and the external and internal influences that affect the company and that are influenced by the company itself and their relations with stakeholders (International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), 2013b).



Figure 2.10: Value creation process according to IR (International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), 2013b)

⁹ KPIs: key performance indicators

As in other reporting systems, materiality and its definition play a fundamental role within the integrated report, although this corporate reporting system does not identify its own methodology, allowing the company to choose the most suitable materiality map to follow.

According to the IIRC, there are some general guiding principles to determine materiality. In particular it is necessary to identify, in an integrated way, the key aspects, both positive and negative, including risks and opportunities, which can affect the creation of medium/long-term value of the company through active and regular stakeholders involvement (IIRC, 2014; International Integrated Reporting Council, 2021).

2.2.4. Future perspectives on reporting

The collaboration phenomena initiated in recent years by the most important organizations that provide non-financial reporting systems such as the CRD, Corporate Reporting Dialogue, which includes GRI, SASB, IIRC, CDP (Carbon Disclosure Project) and CDSB (Climate Disclosure Standards Board), are boosting the promotion of greater comparability and consistency within the market regarding these various new tools. Within these collaborations, attention is paid to supply shared communication materials, with respect to the impacts on sustainability including those that could provide risks and opportunities in the medium/long term. These shared materials could help, for example, interested parties such as investors, policymakers or civil society, to be able to receive information more easily understandable than nowadays where the lack of standardization of these tools is the cause of several difficulties (Corporate Reporting Dialogue, 2018).

To confirm this, GRI and SASB, in the first months of 2021, in the face of a collaboration started in 2020, have drawn up a practical guide that indicates how these two non-financial reporting systems can be used in an integrated and simultaneous way. This is performed by incorporating financial and sustainability information within a comprehensive and complete report so as to provide a holistic and practical approach to disclose the materiality of corporate performance (GRI, 2021a; SASB, 2020, 2021a).

Another interesting development, which will gain more and more value over the next few years, is the attempt to include the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and associated indicators within the non-financial reports. These aspects are increasingly fundamental within the European Union and its member countries as a source of transparent information.

GRI and the United Nations Global Compact, after a collaboration with PwC¹⁰ and SHIFT, the main competence centre on the United Nations Guiding Principles on human and business rights, have drawn up a practical guide based on the concepts of transparency and reliability and integrated sustainability (ESG). The guide has been designed to support companies in including the sustainable development objectives of the 2030 Agenda into their activities (GRI, 2021b; GRI et al., 2018).

¹⁰ PwC: PricewaterhouseCoopers, one of the most important consulting companies belonging to the Big Four group

2.3. Rating tools

After the crisis that hit Lehman Brothers in 2008 and the financial crisis that began that year, it emerged that traditional models for measuring corporate performance and the associated risks were no longer sufficient (Lopatta & Kaspereit, 2014).

Faced with this, in recent years stakeholders and companies have begun to be aware and responsible, requesting increasingly information on corporate ESG aspects (Galbreath, 2013).

To respond to these new global criticalities and market demands, ESG rating agencies have been created, which integrate within the new models for evaluating and measuring performance with a view to integrated sustainability (environmental, social and economic) (Escrig-Olmedo et al., 2019; Olmedo et al., 2010; Veenstra & Ellemers, 2020).

The goal of these agencies is to identify business performance more accurately, in the principle of the concepts of resilience and resistance. Their pivotal mission is to try to provide information that makes it possible to clearly identify the current state of companies and its externalities ESG (Escrig-Olmedo et al., 2019; Olmedo et al., 2010; Veenstra & Ellemers, 2020).

Nowadays, various rating indices have been developed, which evaluate companies using different indicators, both qualitative and quantitative. These indices designed to assess the current sustainability of a company and to define its long-term sustainability, combine different extra-financial and sometimes financial information (Olmedo et al., 2010; Scalet & Kelly, 2010).

Indeed, rating companies use different methodologies to assess corporate sustainability. For example, according to the results of an assessment carried out on the 6 most important global rating companies (Berg et al., 2019), it emerged that 709 different indicators are used to cover 65 categories. These differences on how companies are assessed and on the categories of indicators that are used are causing difficulties in assessing sustainability and, consequently, also in managing the ESG performance of companies (Berg et al., 2019; Escrig-Olmedo et al., 2014, 2017; Muñoz-Torres et al., 2019; Pryshlakivsky & Searcy, 2017; Veenstra & Ellemers, 2020).

Although these tools differ on the type, the number of indicators and how they are used, there are 3 recurring aspects in the evaluation processes (Chatterji et al., 2016):

- indicators are selected and classified according to ESG aspects;
- these indicators aim to evaluate business practices, which are usually intrinsically complex;
- results are normalised by sector.

Some rating tools also adopt, as indicators, already existing methodologies such as the SASB indicator or the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) defined by the UN in the 2030 Agenda. This is the case of SiRating, an Italian rating company that uses both the indicators defined by SASB and the SDGs to assess how the company contributes to sustainable development objectives (Nazioni Unite, 2019; SiRating, 2020).

The rating companies assign, through a questionnaire, a corporate sustainability performance score. This final score is represented by medals, scoring from 0 to 100 or alphabetical scales and can be used both for benchmarking¹¹ (intra and intercompany) and for the development of best practices (Escrig-Olmedo et al., 2019; Olmedo et al., 2010).

Indeed, through the evaluation of the questionnaires, a company may be able to identify those areas of sustainability that are not adequately monitored or assessed (e.g., lack of transparency concerning stakeholders as regards environmental externalities).

To provide a more detailed overview of the rating systems related to corporate sustainability issues, Table 2.2 and Table 2.3 report a brief description of some of the most important and well-known rating tools worldwide and in the European/Italian context, respectively.

	BLOOMBERG	MSCI	DJSI (Dow Jones Sustainability Indices)
Framework, standards, and pillars used	ESG e SASB	ESG	ESG
Results	0/100	AAA/C	0/100
Criteria	120 indicators divided into 3 pillars: environmental, social and governance	37 key ESG themes, divided into three pillars (environmental, social and governance) and ten themes	80/120 questions that deal with 100 ESG problems. The questions concern economic, environmental, and social governance

Table 2.2: International ESG Rating Tools

¹¹ Benchmarking inherent to ESG ratings is the practice of comparing the results of single scores or the overall scores obtained by a company with the scores obtained by other companies operating in the same production sector. Benchmarking can also be a practice carried out internally to evaluate the evolution of a company's results over time

	ECOVADIS	SI RATING	ECOMATE	EXSULTING
Framework , standards, and pillars used	GRI, UNGC e ISO26000	SASB, ESG	GRI, SASB, UNCG, ISO, CDSB	ISO standards and the main international guidelines on sustainability and social responsibility
Results	Medals	Medals, % of overall achievement, % of achievement divided by environmental, social and governance rating with relative average materiality, % of achievement of the 17 SDGs	0/100	Unique value, from 0 to no maximum value is specified
Criteria	7 indicator manageme nt aspects, through 21 sustainabilit y criteria, divided into 4 themes: environmen t, work and human rights, ethics, and sustainable purchasing.	77 product sectors of SASB with relative materiality map. 26 indicators on environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues and its contribution to the 17 United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)	Calculates the environmental, social and governance (ESG) performance of the business through 11 impact modules and over 70 sustainability issues	It consists of 2 sections, the first includes 36 statements on various issues related to sustainability divided into two sections (one dedicated to factors of uncertainty and another to those of resilience) to which the company must assign a score from 1 to 6. After completing the test and assigning a score to all 36 statements, the score related to the company will be sent (it is not separated for the type of company, from a standard value without identifying the different types of companies). The second, the Company Adjusted Index, is made up of 37 evaluation forms (one general and contextual and one for each factor of the index).

Table 2.3: European ESG Rating Tools

2.4. Frameworks

In recent years, to address the new global challenges inherent in sustainable development, decisionmaking frameworks have been devised from various sources, academic and non-academic. These tools can help companies through a multi-capital and often integrated ideology of sustainability, both in the evaluation and implementation processes of these new concepts within their business model and in the communication of the commitments undertaken with external stakeholders. These frameworks can also support companies in explaining how they incorporate economic, environmental and social externalities in the various long-term strategies (Amini & Bienstock, 2014; Baumgartner, 2014; Christen & Schmidt, 2012; Garcia et al., 2016; Nawaz & Koç, 2018).

These tools are generally non-standardized with high levels of heterogeneity in the structure and the contents, reflecting the enormous diversity and complexity of implementing the principles of corporate sustainability. For example, complex decision-making frameworks can be observed such as the Sustainability Management System Framework (SMSF), reported in Figure 2.11, which is based on the Deming cycle or PDCA model (Plan, Do, Check and Act) and on 6 key elements that allow bringing an organization towards a greater awareness of sustainability (Nawaz & Koç, 2018).

Up to easy-to-understand academic tools can be found as in the case of the Framework developed by Amini and Bienstock (2014). This framework identifies sustainability through a maturity matrix defined by 4 different levels of commitment divided into 5 dimensions of sustainability, including the time dimension (Amini & Bienstock, 2014).

The first 3 dimensions of this framework are related to factors internal to the organization (company focus, innovation, application, and communication of sustainability), while the other two look at external factors (externality and compliance stance). The dimension inherent to externalities includes all the impacts that negatively affect the economic, ecological-environmental, and social equity. The last dimension instead represents the commitment to a proactive approach to sustainability (Amini & Bienstock, 2014).



Figure 2.11: Flow chart inherent to the Sustainability Management System Framework (Nawaz & Koç, 2018)

The two frameworks just presented and developed by academia, are not yet used in real applications to evaluate corporate sustainability.

Therefore, in the next subsections, two of the most used and complete decision-making frameworks developed within complete guidelines will be briefly presented, in order to understand the structure and principles behind this new complex class of tools and to explain the different heterogeneity. These are the Strategic Sustainable Development Framework (FSSD) conceived by The Natural Step and the Managing Sustainable Development of Organizations Framework developed by the British Standards Institution.

2.4.1. FSSD - Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development, developed by the Natural Step

The Natural Step is an international non-profit association, currently present in 54 countries, founded in Sweden in 1989, following the publication, in 1987, of the Brundtland report, with the aim of implementing, through a methodology called Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development (FSSD), systemic corporate sustainability at a strategic level (Nathan, 2018; The Natural Step, 2021d).

The Natural Step's goal is to offer a proactive tool that allows companies, through the estimation of the most significant aspects/externalities, to translate the principles of sustainability. In particular, the framework aims to assess what has not contributed to the increase in unsustainability and to plan, through a decision-making process, the strategic management of compromises (Bratt, 2014; Broman & Robèrt, 2017; Missimer, 2015; Nathan, 2018; Thompson & Blume, 2010).

The Framework developed by The Natural Step bases its roots through a conceptual logical process aimed at implementing sustainable development. It consists of 5 assessment levels (Systems, Success, Strategic Guidelines, Actions and Tools). For each of them different methodologies, principles and approaches are available, to allow the FSDD to be considered a useful tool for successful strategic planning (The Natural Step, 2021a).

The Systems level assesses the direct and indirect interactions of the organization with external factors such as stakeholders, ecosystem functions and the resilience and resistance of environmental capital, with particular attention to the climatic regulation function. In this first macro-category, the key factor is the definition of the concept of sustainability through the illustration of the metaphor of the funnel that allows representing in a conceptual way the use by the company of resources and their availability, as well as their variation over time (Broman & Robèrt, 2017; The Natural Step, 2021a).

The funnel metaphor, represented in Figure 2.12 allows understanding when a business model is unsustainable (section B of the figure) and how this is evolving (section C of the figure).

The goal of The Natural Step is not to create a utopian future, but it is to make the company find a trade-off (section D of the figure) that allows a deceleration or an arrest of the continuation of unsustainability (Broman & Robèrt, 2017).



Figure 2.12: Visual development of the metaphorical conception of the funnel at the base of the FSSD (Broman & Robèrt, 2017)

The second level identified by the Framework is called **"Success"** and is divided in 4 principles of sustainability, also defined as system conditions, since they define the essential conditions that a company must satisfy to maintain or implement sustainability on the basis of the principle of cyclicality that aims to use resources in a fair, efficient and therefore sustainable way (The Natural Step, 2021b).

The first 3 principles (i) concentrations of resources, renewable and not extracted from the earth's crust, ii) concentrations of substances produced by anthropogenic activities such as xenobiotics and physical degradation of the earth and iii) deforestation or eutrophication caused by surface run-off of fertilizing chemicals affect the interactions between man and planet. Instead, the fourth principle identifies the achievement of a more sustainable society through the evaluation of human satisfaction (Broman & Robèrt, 2017).

Within **the third level**, called "**strategic guidelines**", the various strategic roadmaps that a company should follow to implement sustainability are defined. In this level, in particular, a process is illustrated that allows to modify the traditional business model "as usual" and to implement sustainability within companies and organizations through a strategic decision-making operational planning process divided into 4 key steps: i) awareness & vision, ii) baseline analysis, iii) creative

solutions and iv) decide on priorities, also referred to as the ABCD approach as reported in Figure 2.13. Although defined in a linear and consequential way, the ABCD approach is an interactive procedure that allows the continuous passage between steps in a non-prescriptive way (The Natural Step, 2021b).



Figure 2.13: Sustainability implementation process through the A-B-C-D model developed by The Natural Step (The Natural Step, 2021b)

The first step, A, consists of identifying, through a discussion process, a possible vision of success, according to The Natural Step's 4 key principles of sustainability. Subsequently, the second point consists of a "gap analysis" between the current state of the company and the future vision of sustainability, thus allowing to define the material externalities, their effects on the business and the possible intervention strategies. Phase C defines the process of identifying a roadmap, by designing a more sustainable long-term vision, using the backcasting methodology (The Natural Step, 2021c).

The forecasting methodology defines the new stage of sustainability of the company simply by projecting current trends into the future, often causing a form of prescription and dependence on the pre-established roadmap, which does not comply with the planning of complex long-term systems (Broman & Robèrt, 2017). The backcasting, on the other hand, allows to identify cause-

effect relationships before they occur. This is obtained by defining first the future vision and only subsequently the current stage using a step-down process, back in time, that allows to connect the future vision with the current state of the company (Bratt, 2014; Missimer, 2015; Nathan, 2018). In this way it is possible to identify the gap between the future vision derived from the implementation of sustainability and that of the current business model (Bratt, 2014; Missimer, 2015; Nathan, 2018).

In doing so, backcasting also allows identifying which specific actions are to be taken before implementing sustainable development actions. Organizations that adopt the backcasting methodology are able to implement interventions that allow the removal of the underlying sources of problems before they occur, rather than solving the various critical issues when they occur (Broman & Robèrt, 2017).

Subsequently in the last point, D, the companies identify the actions to be followed.

In **the fourth level** of the Framework called "**Actions**", the strategies identified in the previous phase through the ABCD approach just illustrated are concretely implemented, such as, for example, longterm internal policies that allow the gradual transition from the use of fossil sources with a high degree of greenhouse gas emissions to renewable energy sources (The Natural Step, 2021b).

Finally, in **the last "tools" level**, a process is identified that requires the company to search for methodologies that can help and guide it in the process of managing and implementing sustainability, such as through the adoption of management standards ISO (The Natural Step, 2021a).

2.4.2. BS8900 - Managing Sustainable Development of Organizations

The British Standards Institution, BSI has devised, within its Sustainable Development Management Standard (BS8900), a decision-making framework capable of implementing sustainable management (environmental, social, and economic) within organizations in an integrated and systemic way. The framework allows companies to continuously improve their performance regardless of the production sector or size, evaluating the commitment to sustainable development rather than the achievement of a specific result (British Standards Institution, 2013a).

The goal of BSI is to implement a critical thinking system within the company, encouraging the creation of a real commitment to sustainability and in parallel to define or increase transparency and trust with stakeholders (British Standards Institution, 2013a).

Unlike the more well-known standards, such as those of the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), the BS8900 standard does not prescribe the company to achieve performance criteria, nor it requires the identification of specific impact indicators. By supporting the principle that corporate sustainability is a complex, continuous and changing radical change.

Indeed, a moment in space and time in which an organization becomes sustainable cannot be clearly defined. Companies will therefore have both different materiality and different speed of improvement in relation to the various aspects inherent to corporate sustainability (British Standards Institution, 2013a).

Furthermore, the British Standards Institution is convinced that if the framework defines the path to follow in a prescriptive way, identifying exactly all the roadmaps, indicators or methodologies to be implemented, a company could mechanically follow the procedure defined by the standard, without a real commitment. As if it were following a simple checklist and producing, in fact, a possible application but without a real motivation. In doing so, an organization would not internalize the purpose and ideals of sustainable development and this would probably lead to an undersized sustainable development in the future (British Standards Institution, 2013a, 2013b).

The pursuit of sustainable development for a company is defined within the Framework through 4 key pillars (inclusiveness, integrity, administration, and transparency).

These pillars, if correctly implemented, are able to increase the trust, credibility and transparency of the company and its activities concerning stakeholders and the community:

- inclusiveness: the inclusion of key stakeholders within the company's strategic planning and development;
- integrity: compliance with ethical rules of conduct that respect the laws in force;
- administration: responsible management of the various activities of the company;
- transparency: clear, simple, accurate, timely and complete communication process towards stakeholders to both positive and negative externalities for the ESG pillars (British Standards Institution, 2013a).

The purpose of these pillars is to allow the company to strengthen transparency and involvement with both external and internal stakeholders.

Outside the company, these pillars attempt to demonstrate to stakeholders how it is operating responsibly and transparently in the short and long term at the level of the ESG pillars of sustainability. Internally instead, the focus of the pillars is to maintain and activate all internal relations with employees in a transparent way, to be able to have a bilateral dialogue, both bottom-up and top-down (British Standards Institution, 2013b, 2013a).

To define the sustainability assessment process, the framework has drawn up a descriptive and unique tool that allows monitoring the evolution, over time, of the company's maturity in addressing sustainability issues. This tool, called maturity matrix and presented in Figure 2.14. is useful for determining the position of an organization with respect to the path of sustainable development, for evaluating progress, clarifying future steps and combining the principles underlying sustainable management, also contributing to the risk identification process (British Standards Institution, 2013a, 2013b).

According to the principles of BSI, to obtain a more detailed overview of the actual state, a company should develop this matrix through the involvement of various strategic stakeholders (British Standards Institution, 2013b).

Principles	Practices	Stages of an organization's approach to sustainable development			
		Matu	rity		
Inclusivity				Additional plans and objectives to be determined by each organization may be added to the matrix.	
Integrity					
Stewardship					
Transparency					
Additional principles applicable to each organization may be added to the matrix.	S 1 2				

Figure 2.14: Maturity matrix (British Standards Institution, 2013a)

CHAPTER 3: Commitments and future prospects

Over 2020, public institutions and private companies made enormous efforts towards sustainability. This includes the development of the European taxonomy for big companies on the financial market and the revision of the directive on the non-financial declaration, by including the SDGs impacts standards, the World Economic Forum, and the International Business Council.

In detail, the European Union has both issued, though the Green Deal, a sequence of policies and investments linked to sustainability to make Europe carbon-neutral and begun a process of creating a unified European taxonomy (i.e. a classification system establishing a list of environmentally sustainable economic activities) (European Commission, 2021b; SDG impact & UNDP, 2020).

The European taxonomy will push innovation towards more sustainable development over the next few years. The European taxonomy is an initiative included in the EU Regulation 2020/852, which sets itself the task of implementing a standardized classification framework relating to performance linked to sustainable development.

In particular, the goals are to be able to assist and guide the decisions of investors or companies proactively concerning the future but imminent ecological transition¹² (European Commission, 2021b). At the Italian level, the ecological transition will be one of the two great challenges of the new government which aims to implement the revolutionary green transition in the country, through funding from the Next Generation EU (Cosimi & Ameri, 2021; European Commission, 2021b).

The European taxonomy regulation will be applied to all financial market players and to large companies recognized as having non-financial disclosure obligations. According to the defined road map, by 2023 all targeted companies will have to start disclosing the first information in terms of taxonomy and ESG (European Commission, 2021b).

In line with this European taxonomy, to be considered sustainable, a company must implement at least one of the six strategic environmental objectives (i.e., i) adaptation of climate change, ii) mitigation of climate change, iii) sustainable use of both water and marine resources, iv) transition to a circular economy, v) control and prevention of polluting sources and vi) protection of ecosystem integrity through the protection of biodiversity) without damaging or impoverishing the other objectives. Furthermore, it will have to guarantee CAM (minimum environmental criteria) and the

¹² a concept that aims to centralize the importance of integration between ecosystems and of humanity through a future vision projected to 2030, and therefore towards an economic development that can minimize negative externalities on the environment

17 objectives (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN) (ASviS, 2020; EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance, 2019).

The EU has started the revision of the directive on the non-financial declaration as well, presenting different attention to two issues, linked to the materiality of the externalities of companies.

These two aspects investigated concern how the negative externalities generated by the social and environmental pillars can affect the economic/financial capital of organizations.

Specifically, the EU's goal is to structuring, by 2022, one or more European non-financial reporting standards, which allow evaluating these direct and indirect negative externalities (World Economic Forum, 2020).

The United Nations Procurement Division (UNPD) has released the SDGs impact standards, a series of management standards in line with the 17 SDGs¹³ of the 2030 Agenda, dedicated to all organizations of public interest, such as NGOs, state and private, regardless of the production sector, geographical area or size, which proactively aim at sustainability (SDG impact & UNDP, 2020). These standards have also been designed to be able, in the future, to be integrated with non-financial reporting, to support, through the implementation of the SDGs, the preparation of a complete and integrated report that can allow companies to report the opportunities or risks associated with sustainable development, the processes of increasing value and the various externalities and criticalities with respect to the achievement of the objectives of the 2030 Agenda (SDG impact & UNDP, 2020).

As far the private sector is concerned, private entities such as Deloitte, EY, KPMG, PwC¹⁴ and the WEF (World Economic Forum), just to name a few, have focused on the pursuit of standardization of the various processes inherent to corporate sustainability (World Economic Forum, 2020).

Moreover, the IBC, the International Business Council, in collaboration with the Big Four¹⁵, the 4 largest and most important consulting companies, confirming the lack of homogeneity, inconsistency and therefore the impossibility of benchmarking concerning non-financial reporting of the ESG aspects that cause a decrease in credibility towards stakeholders in the reporting of progress for sustainable development, has devised a series of material metrics. They are divided into 4 capitals (governance, people, planet and prosperity), in line with the 17 SDGs of the 2030

¹³ SDGs: Sustainable Development Goals

¹⁴ EY: Ernst & Young

KPMG: PricewaterhouseCoopers

¹⁵ Deloitte, KPMG, EY and pwc

Agenda and ESG to create in the future a process that can lead to an increase in transparency regarding the reporting of these aspects and externalities in a clear, simple and integrated way (World Economic Forum, 2020).

CHAPTER 4: Reasons that Induced to the creation of the framework

As it was possible to deduce from the review just presented, currently, in the landscape of corporate sustainability, there is a lack of shared and standardized practices, both with regard to the methodologies and strategies used, and in the definition of the same pillars of sustainability.

Furthermore, also the proliferation, caused by different pressures both external and internal to organizations, of different tools that allow to evaluate, implement, and report corporate sustainability in a heterogeneous way is a rationale of great complexity.

These two problems, which work synergistically, cause indecision about the most suitable tool or methodology to be used and implemented by companies, at both inter and intra typological level, for the achievement of sustainable practices. Accordingly, this caused the need of developing a unique conceptual tool, subsequently called Decision-Making Framework. The goal was to devise a tool that could support, cyclically, continuously, and proactively, both consultants and companies in the process of evaluation and implementation of both these new methodologies and tools for sustainable development.

The rationale behind the Framework is to identify in a simple, linear, and transparent way, through a structured logical process such as a roadmap, how to evaluate, implement and report corporate sustainability in a way that is tailored to a specific company. This process relies on strong participation of key stakeholders both internal and external to the organization.

This process is allowed using the most consolidated tools and methods currently existing in the field of both corporate sustainable development and strategic decision-making.

In particular, the framework was conceived with the idea of being able to understand the maturity and materiality of an organization with respect to these aspects. Suggesting not only the most suitable type of methodology to be used among the different options but the different tools to be adopted as well, in line with the characteristics, needs, particularities and singularities of each company to implement sustainability.

SECTION II: CONCEPTUAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE MODULAR DECISION-MAKING FRAMEWORK

This second section illustrates the theoretical processes that led to the logical design of the macrostructure of the decision-making framework for corporate sustainability and its conceptual development. Especially, the 5 macro-phases, the flexible and modular maturity questionnaire at the base of the vertical navigation process consisting of 11 questions, the methodologies and tools defining the horizontal expansion and the checklists created to guide the transition from one phase to the next are identified and defined.

The development of a screening decision-making tool, called morphological scheme, which is one of the possible horizontal developments of phase II is also explored. Subsequently, all the general structure of the framework is presented in a single flowchart. At the end of this section, the implementation of the tool conceived in the form of an IT application is also summarized, which has allowed a simpler and more intuitive use, to verify both the functionality and the critical issues by applying it to a real case study that will be exposed in the next section (SECTION III: FRAMEWORK APPLICATION THROUGH A CASE STUDY).

CHAPTER 5: The modular decision-making framework

The decision-making framework was theorized taking the PDCA (plan, do, check and act) decisionmaking approach as a reference. It is composed of five sequential macro-phases defined so that each stage corresponds to a greater awareness of "maturity" on issues related to sustainability. The framework is also useful for defining a roadmap to implement sustainable development issues. The five sequential macro-phases are defined as follows:

- phase 0: understanding the principles of sustainability;
- phase I: defining the current position and the priorities of tomorrow;
- phase II: identification the interventions;
- phase III: measuring progress;
- phase IV: communicating and reporting.

The first two macro-phases allow first to assess the company's theoretical knowledge of these new concepts (phase 0), and then to identify the current state of sustainability and possible future scenarios through active stakeholder engagement (phase I).

In this latter phase, the environment is also incorporated as a primary stakeholder, thus expanding the traditional definition of stakeholders¹⁶. Incorporating the environment as a primary stakeholder means taking into consideration all potential direct and indirect environmental externalities during the stakeholder engagement process and the assessment of material aspects. Indeed, an over-exploited environment in which ecosystem services are impoverished leads to consequences for the organizations themselves and for all the other stakeholders.

Phase II, on the other hand, identifies, through objective decision-making processes, a series of interventions to be implemented in line with the specific needs and problems of a company.

Subsequently, phase III allows to locate and systematize the key indicators through a continuous monitoring plan to observe the evolution of sustainability over time.

Finally, phase IV first defines how to communicate the different improvements obtained step by step with the stakeholders and then distinguishes the most suitable reporting tool, certification, or ecolabel for external communication of the final results.

More specifically, as shown in Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2, the framework is based on a multi-spatial process, defined by two dimensions, one vertical and one horizontal. The vertical dimension was defined on the basis of the flexible tool designed by BS8001¹⁷ for issues relating to the circular economy (British Standards, 2017) and is composed of a questionnaire consisting of eleven questions divided into the five macro-phases described above. The horizontal dimension is composed of the individual methodologies and tools that act as a suggestion for completing a specific phase.

¹⁶ Subjects, organizations, or individuals who are actively involved in a business activity, whose interest is positively or negatively influenced by the performance or result of the business. (Treccani, 2021)

¹⁷ BS 8001 - Circular economy



Figure 5.1: Simplified representation of the framework and its vertical and horizontal dimensions



Figure 5.2: Flow chart representation of the questionnaire and its subdivision within the phases

Furthermore, as can be seen from Figure 5.1, the decision-making framework was conceived through a closed-loop process that guides an organization in a continuous effort to improve its integrated sustainability performance (understood as social, environmental, economic/governance performance), even when the organization has already completed all the steps defined within the framework.

The rationale behind it is that that sustainable development is not a point of arrival, but a pathway of continual, never-ending improvement to achieve the long-term goal of sustainability (i.e., a more sustainable world) (Gaziulusoy & Brezet, 2015; Zimek & Baumgartner, 2017).

In addition, further checklists, shown in Figure 5.3, have been implemented before moving from one phase to the next to have a second verification process and create a proactive tool that allows identifying problems and shortcomings before taking a deeper and more detailed step towards sustainable development.

These checklists have been designed for all companies that could answer "yes" to all the questions contained within a phase without consulting the methodologies suggested by the tool (horizontal dimension). If a company does not have one of the procedures or tools suggested in the verification phase, it is recommended to return to the first question of that phase and to view all the procedures or tools suggested, to fill and resolve any possible criticalities or gaps.

Specifically, 3 additional checklists have been devised and have been positioned between phase 1 and 2, phase 2 and 3 and phase 3 and 4, as reported in Figure 5.3. No checklist has been inserted in the transition between phase 0 and 1 since in that preliminary stage only theoretical knowledge on sustainability is required.

PHASE 0: UNDERSTANDING THE PRINCIPLES OF SUSTAINABILITY

PHASE I: DEFINING THE CURRENT POSITION AND THE PRIORITIES OF TOMORROW

To go to phase 2, the company should:

- Have a mixed workgroup, including stakeholders and internal company staff;
- Have an updated materiality map;
- Be aware of company boundaries and their priority externalities;
- Be aware of the current state and have outlined possible future scenarios.

PHASE II: IDENTIFYING THE INTERVENTIONS

To go to phase 3, the company should:

- Have Identified which methodologies/standards are the most advantageous to implement;
- Have outlined a roadmap to be followed by the multidisciplinary working group for the implementation of the identified methodologies/standards.

PHASE III: MEASURING PROGRESS

To go to phase 4, the company should:
Have identified and implemented a constant monitoring process through the use of both qualitative and quantitative indicators.

PHASE IV: COMMUNICATING AND REPORTING

Figure 5.3: Depiction of the checklists

Lastly, within this framework, the sustainability has been defined as having at least three macrodimensions composed of different micro-dimensions:

- environmental;
- social (social + human);
- governance (economic + governance + leadership).

This definition was conceived with the aim of obviating the lack of a standardized guideline regarding the creation of tools capable of evaluating, implementing, and reporting corporate sustainability, already reported in **SECTION I: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND**. Indeed, for example, reporting tools such as GRI and SASB ¹⁸use different "dimensions / pillars".

Moreover, this pillar model also allows the use of ESG¹⁹ impact standards and SDGs²⁰ both as indicators and as tools for assessing current sustainability and as components within the different forms of non-financial reporting if the European taxonomy or new EU directives standardize the various sustainability criteria for organizations in the future.

¹⁸ GRI: Global Reporting Initiative

SASB: Sustainable Accounting Standards Board

¹⁹ ESG: environmental, social and governance

²⁰ SDGs: Sustainable Development Goals

5.1. Phase 0: Understanding the principles of sustainability

The Phase 0 of the framework, called Understanding the Principles of Sustainability, was designed for all those companies which are a novice on sustainability issues.

Thanks to the first question of the questionnaire, represented in Figure 5.4, the framework is able to identify if a company has theoretical notions about sustainability issues. This is essential to be able to approach sustainable development consciously and strategically.



Figure 5.4: Flow chart representation of Phase 0 of the framework

Within this phase, a document²¹ is available which provides a theoretical study of the peculiarities of corporate sustainability, of its pillars and their integrated view. Furthermore, the most used tools and standards to evaluate, implement and report integrated environmental, social, and economic sustainability (such as ISO, GRI, LCA²², etc.) are presented and described, so that the company can become aware of the different opportunities and problems concerning their current business model. This Phase has been called Phase 0, as it was designed to be the foundation of the process, which allows institutions to be able to undertake a commitment to a more sustainable world, which requires a more conscious use of resources and a more equitable inter and intra-generational vision. Indeed, the framework was designed by arguing that a company is a piece of a synergistic, integrated and above all delicate ecosystem.

 ²¹ This document consists of two sections. The first section briefly summarizes the concepts of sustainability and is present in APPENDIX A: FIRST IN-DEPTH SECTION OF THE THEORETICAL NOTIONS DOCUMENT. Instead, the second section is composed of the reworked information, present in Section I of this final dissertation.
 ²² ISO: International Standards Organization

GRI: Global Reporting Initiative

LCA: Life Cycle Assessment

5.2. Phase I: Defining the current position and the priorities of tomorrow

This second phase, as can be seen in Figure 5.5, consists of five questions. It was designed with the aim of guiding a company in the processes of identifying and raising awareness of the current sustainability of its system and delineating, through a proactive approach in line with the principles of sustainable development, the possible future scenarios. The latter are defined based on strategies and actions to mitigate the most preponderant material aspects which cause corporate non-sustainability.

This part of the framework initially suggests to a company how to determine, using a materiality map, the potential externalities that make the business model unsustainable and therefore the fundamental resources to achieve medium/long-term success. It is recommended to use the pre-filled SASB²³ matrix as the first tool, since it gives a general overview of the categories and dimensions in which the externalities of companies operating in the same production sector can occur on the average.



Figure 5.5: Flow chart representation of Phase I of the framework and of the first checklist

²³ SASB: Sustainable Accountability Standards Board

Once the various problems and general impacts are understood, the framework suggests identifying the main stakeholders, both internal and external, through the stakeholder map reported in Figure 5.6.

The stakeholder map allows defining the relationship of stakeholders with the organization and identifying the key ones, which could help during the subsequent process of identifying, through the realization of the materiality matrix defined by the GRI Standards, the specific and personal material aspects of a company.

In particular, a stakeholder map allows a company to implement the stakeholder analysis process simply and visually. Indeed, it is a moment in which an organization searches for possible key stakeholders for a particular and potential company externality linked to one of the pillars of sustainability to subsequently establish a continuous relationship based on interaction and the exchange of information and ideas (Dooms, 2019; Rahbek Gjerdrum Pedersen et al., 2013).



Figure 5.6 Example of stakeholder map (Carleton et al., 2011)

After the main stakeholders have been identified, an initial bilateral dialogue and interaction process starts. At this point, the decision-making framework suggests defining the company system to understand the boundaries of externalities, to be able to verify all the interested parties and identify, through a proactive process with double control, also the possible stakeholders that initially may have not been considered. This phase of defining the real boundaries of an organization was conceived considering that the business system should not be limited to the mere physical boundary of the organization, but should also be sought externally, based on the possible impacts of key externalities, developing the concept that an organization is part of an integrated complex ecosystem and as such influences and is influenced by it.

Then, through the active involvement of the interested parties, the framework suggests starting to determine which material aspects are most important for the internal and external key stakeholders based on the previously defined company boundaries and the different direct and indirect externalities.

Within this phase, the preparation of a Maturity Map is also suggested so that a company can acquire knowledge and awareness of its current position concerning other important factors for strategic and conscious sustainable development.

The framework suggests implementing a maturity map based on BS8900²⁴, to be able to include aspects such as transparency, integrity, inclusivity, stewardship etc.

The fourth step presented within this phase proposes to establish, through the active involvement of internal and external stakeholders, the possible future scenarios of sustainable development. The process described above is made possible through the evaluation of the matrices of materiality and maturity and the most relevant aspects and critics encountered. This includes trying to extrapolate the sectors with less developed and more critical or impacting materiality and identifying what could be the most important aspects through two possible screening mitigation scenarios, based on the externalities present in the different pillars, which are reported below:

i) reduce emissions by converting the energy mix used through more sustainable energies and evaluate the most energy-intensive production processes, through LCA and CF²⁵ which in turn support in the evaluation of how to intervene to reduce emissions;

²⁴ BS8900 - Managing sustainable development of organizations

²⁵ LCA: Life Cycle Assessment

CF: Carbon Footprint

ii) develop a company policy focused on raising awareness of staff about the aspects of circular economy and recycling, encouraging virtuous behaviours, such as sharing mobility.

Finally, once a company has defined the status and the various possible future horizons of intervention, the framework indicates to establish, through a gap analysis, the distance between the current state and the future one. By doing so, a company can define the real discrepancy concerning sustainable development and begin to proactively outline the ideal trajectories. This can be done by means of backcasting, that could be followed to decrease/mitigate the different externalities, identifying the cause-effect relationships before they occur, through a step-down process, back in time (Bratt, 2014; Missimer, 2015; Nathan, 2018).

5.2.1. First additional checklist

Although it is not a prescriptive phase, before passing from phase 1 to the next, the framework asks the company, through a first checklist, if it has a series of tools and methodologies to identify the current position concerning sustainability and possible future scenarios through active stakeholder involvement.

In particular, the checklist suggests:

- have a mixed working group, including stakeholders and internal staff of the company;
- have an updated materiality map;
- be aware of company boundaries and their priority externalities;
- be aware of the current state of sustainability and have outlined possible future scenarios.

5.3. Phase II: Identifying the interventions

This phase of the framework, as shown in Figure 5.7, consists of two questions designed through two key objectives that work synergistically one with the other. The first objective was the desire to convert all the materiality and maturity information of the previous phase and the various options for future screening development into concrete, objective actions.



Figure 5.7: Flow chart representation of Phase II of the framework and of the second checklist

This would allow a company, through a scientific decision-making process, to highlight in a simple way the methodologies or tools which are suitable to implement the sustainability actions, based on its needs and peculiarities. The second objective was to introduce a process to understand, through decision analysis methodologies, such as multi-criteria analysis (MCDA)²⁶ or SWOT analysis²⁷, the best specific implementation strategy for a company.

As a first suggestion, organizations are required to verify, under a proactive and anticipatory attitude, whether there might be current or potential changes in national, European, and global directives. Paying particular attention to the European taxonomy and the New Green Deal, which could influence the decision-making choice to implement one methodology rather than another.

In the second step of the horizontal development, a decision support tool called morphological scheme was introduced and developed at a preliminary level.

²⁶ Strategic planning analysis used to compare alternatives based on quantitative criteria, expressed on a normalized scale, and then compared on the basis of a weight. In this way it is possible to draw up a ranking of the best options, among the different methodologies, standards or future visions, integrating the results of each criterion (Huang et al., 2011).

²⁷ Strategic planning analysis developed through a 2x2 matrix that allows a company to qualitatively identify the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats for each of the individual methodologies, standards or future visions, so as to be able to select the one with the best trades -off (Sarsby, 2016).

The morphological scheme consists of an interactive matrix that allows to visualize, at the screening level, a series of standards and methodologies in line with the user needs. In section 5.3.1, the process of realization of the morphological scheme will be briefly summarized.

An example of application of the morphological scheme is present in Table 5.1 and Table 5.2. The compilation of the matrix is performed through the 5 steps in orange which allow to select the pillar to investigate, the complexity of the methodology, the external support required for the implementation of the methodology, the potential and consistency of provided results and the expected impacts derived from the communication of the results. Under the guidance of the blue explanation table, the morphological scheme suggests tools that can be applied in line with the user's requests.

From Table 5.1, it can be seen that the morphological scheme, based on the compilation of the orange table, suggests a Life Cycle Assessment or an ISO 14001 as methodologies in line with the needs of the company. By changing from 3 to 2 the inputs related to the complexity and resources required by the methodology, while keeping the other 3 columns unchanged, the morphological scheme suggests to use ISO 9001 and ISO 26000 or the methodology inherent to The Natural Step framework, as reported in Table 5.2.

Table 5.1: Example of morphological scheme compiled for the environmental pillar

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	1 - Simple average amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	1 - External support strongly recommended but not essential	1 - Low-medium potential of the methodology	1 - Low-medium potential on image / external communication
SOCIAL	2 - Medium-high amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	2 - External support needed	2 - Medium-high potential of the methodology	2 - Medium-high impact on image / external communication
INTEGRATED	3 - High amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	3 - External support essential to apply the methodology / standard and strongly present	3 - High potential of the methodology	3 - High impact on image / external communication

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	3	2	2	3

ENVIRONMENTAL	SOCIAL	INTEGRATED
LIFE CYCLE		
ASSESSMENT (LCA)		
ISO 14001		
(ENVIRONMENTAL		
MANAGEMENT		
SYSTEM)		

Table 5.2: Example of a completed morphological scheme for the integrated pillar

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	1 - Simple average amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	1 - External support strongly recommended but not essential	1 - Low-medium potential of the methodology	1 - Low-medium potential on image / external communication
SOCIAL	2 - Medium-high amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	2 - External support needed	2 - Medium-high potential of the methodology	2 - Medium-high impact on image / external communication
INTEGRATED	3 - High amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	3 - External support essential to apply the methodology / standard and strongly present	3 - High potential of the methodology	3 - High impact on image / external communication

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
INTEGRATED	2	2	2	3



The last part of the horizontal development present at this level suggests performing a feasibility decision-making analysis through two proposed methodologies, SWOT Analysis or MCDA. In this way, a company can determine the most suitable tool to implement, among those proposed during the screening phase by the morphological scheme, based on company's needs, priority material aspects and interest of the stakeholders.

Specifically, when a company has assessed the material and maturity aspects and compiled the morphological scheme, the latter will propose a series of methodologies and tools in line with company's needs. Indeed, for example, from Table 5.1 and Table 5.2, 5 methodologies and standards proposed by the morphological scheme can already be noted. Additional methodologies or standards suggested by sustainability experts during the evaluation phase of the material aspects can also be added. However, a company will not be able to develop all the methodologies and standards proposed in parallel and synchronously. For this reason, the framework suggests companies to evaluate with the stakeholders the different methodologies/standards or future visions proposed either at a qualitative and screening level through SWOT Analysis or at a quantitative and detailed level through MCDA. The goal is to be able to make a company understand through a complex and structured logical process which methodologies/standards or future visions could be with the best trade-off and which are therefore worth implementing first.

Subsequently, once the most suitable methodology to be implemented has been selected, the decision-making framework advises to draw up a restricted working group, composed of internal and external key stakeholders, which discusses the material aspect to mitigate. Finally, it is suggested to develop a roadmap divided into key steps. In particular, the framework requires a modification and a more accurate preparation of the backcasting analysis carried out in the previous phase, in order to be able to pursue the sustainable development established through a precautionary and proactive approach.
5.3.1 Development of the morphological scheme

Before discussing the construction of the morphological scheme, it is necessary to briefly define what this instrument consists of and its origins.

The morphological scheme, also called the "Zwicky box" in honor of its inventor, was originally proposed by the astrophysicist Fritz Zwicky for solving problems related to aerospace issues (F. Zwicky, 1967; Fritz Zwicky & Wilson, 1967).

Morphological analysis is a component of scientific decisional analysis inherent to complex issues and it is structured through a systemic logical process that leads to finding "organized solutions" (Ritchey, 2011).

Essentially, the Zwicky box is a matrix divided into parameters and attributes. This matrix contains and identifies a set of relationships and allows to arrive at different solutions thanks to the different row-column permutations. The parameters are the characteristics or functions provided for the solutions, which in the case of the matrix developed in the thesis are present in the first row of the matrix (pillar, complexity & resources, external support, potential & consistency of results and communication), while attributes are the single values that can characterize a parameter.

In the case, for example, of the parameter called "pillar", as can be observed in and Table 5.2, the attribute can be environmental, social or integrated.

Based on how a user fills in the morphological matrix, thus determining, for each parameter, a single attribute, the morphological scheme suggests a series of options in line with the pre-established permutations, as can be seen in Table 5.1 and Table 5.2.

The morphological scheme was created through a consultation, by mean of the questionnaire proposed in **APPENDIX B: SUSTAINABILITY METHODOLOGIES/STANDARDS QUESTIONNAIRE**, which requested information for 21 methodologies and standards relating to corporate, environmental, social, economic and integrated sustainability (reported in Table *0.1*).

60

More specifically, as reported in **APPENDIX B: SUSTAINABILITY METHODOLOGIES/STANDARDS QUESTIONNAIRE**, the following questions were asked for each methodology and standard:

- in which sector (pillar/thematic) of the sustainability assessment would you insert this methodology/standard;
- in applying this method, how do you evaluate its complexity also considering the temporal level?;
- in applying this methodology/standard, how essential do you think external support is for the company?;
- in applying this methodology/standard, how many resources (personnel, information, etc)
 do you think are necessary?;
- once this methodology/standard is applied, how would you describe the final information obtained?;
- once this methodology/standard has been applied, how would you describe the results obtained?;
- how would you describe the potential benefits obtained from implementing this methodology/standard? (both internal and external);
- How can the impact on image / communication deriving from the application of this methodology / standard be defined?

The questionnaire was submitted to 20 experts coming from public universities, research institution and private consultancy companies dealing with corporate sustainability.

The survey presented an overall response rate of 85%. The percentage response rate for each methodology is reported in Table 0.1 of APPENDIX B: SUSTAINABILITY METHODOLOGIES/STANDARDS QUESTIONNAIRE

61

The 21 methodologies and standards administered within the questionnaire to consultants were selected after:

- bibliographic search through Mendeley, Scopus and Google Scholar databases and search engines for all methodologies/standards;
- active comparison with environmental, social and integrated sustainability experts, operating both in public and private bodies, that supported the first phase of screening and an expansion of the methodologies and standards found through the previous phase of bibliographic search;
- active discussion with experts in sustainable strategic innovation.

Through the first screening analysis of the questionnaire results, it emerged that for three methodologies (ISO 28001 - security management system for the supply chain, ISO 44001 - collaborative business relations management system, and ISO 22301 - societal security, business continuity management system), there was no response.

The remaining 18 methodologies were divided into 3 pillars based on the information obtained from the interviewees. Particular cases are related to the Benefit Corporation methodology, inserted into two pillars (social and integrated), as it emerged that the interviewees placed it equally within these two macro-areas of sustainability, and economic methodologies, which have been identified within the integrated pillar.

The final split consisted in:

- six methodologies in the Environmental pillar (LCA, carbon footprint, water footprint, ISO 14001, EMAS and ISO 50001);
- six methodologies in the Social pillar (SA8000, ISO 45001, SROI, theory of change, social footprint, benefit corporation;
- seven methodologies in the Integrated pillar (ISO 9001, AA1000, ISO 31000, BS8900, ISO 26000, The natural step and benefit corporation.

Table 5.3, briefly summarizes all the steps that were required to rank the results obtained from the questionnaire on a scale of 1 to 3, which is useful for simply defining the individual attributes of the 5 parameters that make up the morphological scheme. Subsequently, the motivations and purposes of the individual steps listed in Table 5.3 will be explained in more detail.

Table 5.3: Chronological representation of the steps performed for the normalisation of the results collected inthe questionnaire and their final classification in a scale from 1 to 3



Initially, an analysis of the data was carried out across the overall responses, allowing for initial screening of the results. It came to light that all the different methodologies and standards presented mixed final information, both qualitative and quantitative. This led to the exclusion from the morphological scheme of the results inherent in this question²⁸, since it is not significant, being the same for all methodologies (mixed, i.e., both qualitative and quantitative) and therefore not providing useful information during the decision-making process.

Afterwards, there was a conversion of the results inherent to the complexity of the methodology, which was initially evaluated through the assignment of 4 classes values (simple, medium, complex, and other), to a scale from 1 to 5. This was done to allow a more rapid mathematical comparison with the results of the other questions which were collected in the scale between 1 and 5.

To obtain this conversion, first it was necessary to calculate the "modal value" of the answers related to complexity, then the obtained values were classified in the following 7 classes and finally a value between 1 and 5 was attributed to each of the 7 identified classes as described below:

- simple methodology = 1;
- both simple and medium methodology but tending to be simple = 1;
- both simple and medium methodology but tending to be of medium complexity = 2;
- average methodology = 2;
- both medium and complex methodology but tending to be medium = 3;
- both medium and complex methodology but tending to be complex = 4;
- complex methodology = 5.

²⁸ once this methodology/standard is applied, how would you describe the final information obtained?

As regards the question related to the level of communication towards customers/suppliers, a conversion from the initial decimal scale included in the questionnaire to a scale between 1 and 5 was carried out to standardize all the values according to the scale used for the other questions. Subsequently, there was also the need to calculate, for each of the answers obtained from the 18 methodologies, a mode (for qualitative results) and an arithmetic average (for quantitative ones), present in Table 5.4, to be able to have a limited number of values for each methodology/standard. Especially, for the "pillar" parameter, it was necessary to calculate the modal value and not the arithmetic mean, as it is made up of qualitative variables.

Instead for the remaining 6 parameters (i) complexity, ii) external support, iii) resources, iv) achieved results, v) potentials obtained arising from implementation and vi) communication level) the average was calculated.

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	RESOURCES (PERSONNEL, INFORMATION, ETC)	ACHIEVED RESULTS	POTENTIALS OBTAINED ARISING FROM IMPLEMENTATION	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
LCA		4,000	4,706	3,882	4,294	4,353	3,853
CARBON FOOTPRINT		3,000	4,176	3,412	4,000	4,059	3,971
WATER FOOTPRINT		3,000	4,500	3,583	3,917	3,750	3,458
ISO 14001 (ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	ENVIRONMENTAL	3,000	4,417	3,750	4,083	4,250	3,917
EMAS (ECO-MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SCHEME)		3,000	4,222	3,778	4,000	3,889	3,444
ISO 50001 (ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		5,000	5,000	3,000	4,000	5,000	3,500
SA8000 (SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		3,000	3,857	3,429	3,429	3,571	3,500
ISO 45001 (OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS)		2,000	4,250	3,500	3,750	3,750	3,625
SROI (SOCIAL RETURN ON INVESTMENT)	SOCIAL	4,000	4,333	3,000	3,667	4,333	4,250
THEORY OF CHANGE		1,000	3,750	3,500	3,500	4,000	3,000
SOCIAL FOOTPRINT		4,000	4,000	4,000	4,000	4,000	3,250

Table 5.4: Average/mode results obtained from the preliminary data analysis of the questionnaire

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	RESOURCES (PERSONNEL, INFORMATION, ETC)	ACHIEVED RESULTS	POTENTIALS OBTAINED ARISING FROM IMPLEMENTATION	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
BENEFIT CORPORATION	INTEGRATED / SOCIAL	3,000	3,800	3,500	3,400	4,300	4,050
ISO 9001 (QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	INTEGRATED	2,000	3,625	3,375	3,875	3,625	3,125
AA1000 (ACCOUNTABILITY)		2,000	4,250	3,000	3,500	3,500	2,375
ISO 31000 (RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		2,000	5,000	4,000	4,000	4,000	4,000
BS8900 (SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT OF ORGANIZATIONS)		2,000	3,000	2,000	3,000	3,000	2,000
ISO 26000 (GUIDE TO SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		1,000	4,000	3,500	4,000	4,000	2,750
THE NATURAL STEP		2,000	4,000	3,400	3,600	4,400	3,000

Furthermore, to make the morphological scheme simpler and more intuitive during compilation, it was evaluated, due to the large number of permutations possible in a 7-parameter matrix, to group the results obtained into 5 categories (i) pillar, ii) complexity and resources, iii) external support, iv) potentials and results obtained and v) communication level).

The process that led to the definition of the new 5 parameters is schematized in Figure 5.8.



Subsequently, the quantitative results of the categories ii) complexity and resources, iii) external support, iv) potentials and results obtained and v) communication level, were normalized within each pillar on a scale 0-1, through Equation 5.1, as represented below.

Equation 5.1: Normalization

$$\bar{x}_i = \frac{x_i - x_{min}}{x_{max} - x_{min}}$$

 $\bar{x}_i = mean \text{ of the parameter}$ $x_i = i \text{ th value of a category to normalize}$ $x_{min} = lower \text{ value of that category}$ $x_{max} = highest \text{ value of that category}$

The 4 categories along with the related normalized data on a scale (0-1) divided for each pillar, are presented in Table 5.5.

This choice of normalising among pillars was due, as can be seen from Table 5.5, to the lower average complexity of the methodologies and standards inherent to the social and integrated pillar compared to those of the tools present in the environmental one. Through a separate normalization by pillar, it was possible to observe a better distribution of the results which, by means a unique normalization, would have become squashed and would not have allowed a simple visualization of the results. Furthermore, during this phase, attention was paid to the normalization of the Benefit Corporation methodology present in both the social and integrated pillars.

Table 5.5: Average results normalized on a 0-1 scale, obtained after combining the results relating to complexity and resources and potentials and results obtained

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
LCA		0,7500	0,6429	0,7412	0,7764
CARBON FOOTPRINT		0,2333	0,0000	0,2339	1,0000
WATER FOOTPRINT		0,3306	0,3929	0,0000	0,0264
ISO 14001 (ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	ENVIRONMENTAL	0,4250	0,2917	0,4208	0,8975
EMAS (ECO-MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SCHEME)		0,4407	0,0556	0,1659	0,0000
ISO 50001 (ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		0,5000	1,0000	0,6104	0,1056

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
SA8000 (SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		0,5476	0,1837	0,0238	0,4000
ISO 45001 (OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS)		0,4167	0,8571	0,4089	0,5000
SROI (SOCIAL RETURN ON INVESTMENT)	SOCIAL	0,5000	1,0000	0,7222	1,0000
THEORY OF CHANGE		0,2500	0,0000	0,3646	0,0000
SOCIAL FOOTPRINT		1,0000	0,4286	0,7813	0,2000
BENEFIT CORPORATION		0,5833	0,0857	0,4781	0,8400
ISO 9001 (QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		0,5938	0,3125	0,5938	0,6875
AA1000 (ACCOUNTABILITY)		0,5000	0,6250	0,5625	0,5000
ISO 31000 (RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	INTEGRATED	0,7500	1,0000	1,0000	1,0000
BS8900 (SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT OF ORGANIZATIONS)		0,2500	0,0000	0,0000	0,0000

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
ISO 26000 (GUIDE TO SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		0,3750	0,5000	0,7500	0,7500
THE NATURAL STEP		0,6000	0,5000	0,5500	0,7000
BENEFIT CORPORATION		0,8750	0,4000	0,4000	0,7500

Following, as can be seen from Table 5.6 as well, the normalized values have been classified into 3 classes:

- value 1 to all data belonging to the range 0-0.333
- value 2 all data belonging to the range 0.3331-0.666
- value 3 all data greater than 0.6661.

This operation allows a simpler compilation by the user, who selecting for each category a level on a scale from 1 to 3, as shown in the Table 5.1 and Table 5.2, will obtain a list of methodologies and standards corresponding to that permutation.

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
LCA		3	3	3	2
CARBON FOOTPRINT		1	1	2	3
WATER FOOTPRINT	-	1	2	1	1
ISO 14001 (ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	ENVIRONMENTAL	2	2	2	3
EMAS (ECO-MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SCHEME)		2	1	1	1
ISO 50001 (ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		3	3	3	2
SA8000 (SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		2	1	1	2
ISO 45001 (OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS)		2	3	2	2
SROI (SOCIAL RETURN ON INVESTMENT)	SOCIAL	2	3	3	3
THEORY OF CHANGE		1	1	2	1
SOCIAL FOOTPRINT		3	2	3	1

Table 5.6: Results normalized and subsequently reported on a numerical scale from 1 to 3

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
BENEFIT CORPORATION		2	1	2	3
ISO 9001 (QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		2	1	2	2
AA1000 (ACCOUNTABILITY)		1	3	2	1
ISO 31000 (RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		3	1	1	3
BS8900 (SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT OF ORGANIZATIONS)	INTEGRATED	1	1	1	1
ISO 26000 (GUIDE TO SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		1	2	3	3
THE NATURAL STEP		2	2	2	2
BENEFIT CORPORATION		3	2	1	3

Finally, the results, presented in Table 5.6, have been inserted into an Excel matrix (Table 5.1 and Table 5.2) which, through the function = + IF (AND) and the filter function, can be filled in by the user interactively, showing the methodologies belonging to the selected permutation.

Furthermore, a particular feature of the morphological scheme is that the + IF (AND) function has been constructed through logical comparisons (<, = and>). This made it possible to insert the various methodologies / standards within pre-established ranges, represented in Table 5.7.

As can be seen from Table 5.7., the <u>complexity & resources</u>, and <u>external support</u> parameters have the sign >=, while the <u>potentials & results obtained</u>, and <u>communication level</u> parameters have the sing <=.

This choice was made because a company for the first two parameters will be willing to display all the methodologies and standards with "complexity" greater or equal to the one selected, while for the other two, inversely, it will be willing to display all the methodologies and standards with less or equal "difficulty" than the one selected.

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
LCA		>=3	>=3	<=3	<=2
CARBON FOOTPRINT		>=1	>=1	<=2	<=3
WATER FOOTPRINT	ENVIRONMENTAL	>=1	>=2	<=1	<=1
ISO 14001 (ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		>=2	>=2	<=2	<=3
EMAS (ECO-MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SCHEME)		>=2	>=1	<=1	<=1
ISO 50001 (ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		>=3	>=3	<=3	<=2
SA8000 (SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		>=2	>=1	<=1	<=2
ISO 45001 (OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS)		>=2	>=3	<=2	<=2
SROI (SOCIAL RETURN ON INVESTMENT)	SOCIAL	>=2	>=3	<=3	<=3
THEORY OF CHANGE		>=1	>=1	<=2	<=1
SOCIAL FOOTPRINT		>=3	>=2	<=3	<=1

Table 5.7: Logical comparisons inserted inside the function + IF (AND)

METHODOLOGY	PILLAR	COMPLEXITY AND RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIALS AND RESULTS OBTAINED	COMMUNICATION LEVEL
BENEFIT CORPORATION		>=2	>=1	<=2	<=3
ISO 9001 (QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		>=2	>=1	<=2	<=2
AA1000 (ACCOUNTABILITY)		>=1	>=3	<=2	<=1
ISO 31000 (RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)		>=3	>=1	<=1	<=3
BS8900 (SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT OF ORGANIZATIONS)	INTEGRATED	>=1	>=1	<=1	<=1
ISO 26000 (GUIDE TO SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)		>=1	>=2	<=3	<=3
THE NATURAL STEP		>=2	>=2	<=2	<=2
BENEFIT CORPORATION		>=3	>=2	<=1	<=3

In addition, a blue Table 5.8 was created to guide a company during the compilation, which contains a guideline of the different values to be attributed to the morphological scheme.

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	1 - Simple average amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	1 - External support strongly recommended but not essential	1 - Low- medium potential of the methodology	1 - Low-medium potential on image / external communication
SOCIAL	2 - Medium-high amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	2 - External support needed	2 - Medium- high potential of the methodology	2 - Medium-high impact on image / external communication
INTEGRATED	3 - High amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	3 - External support essential to apply the methodology / standard and strongly present	3 - High potential of the methodology	3 - High impact on image / external communication

Table 5.8: Guide table for the compilation of the morphological scheme

5.3.2. Second additional checklist

To pass to phase 3, the company is initially asked to confirm that it has identified, through a scientific and reproducible decision-making process, the best procedure/methodology to be implemented. This task should be based on the material aspects most predominant in the interests and pressures of the internal and external priority stakeholders. Subsequently, the checklist requires to have outlined a roadmap which is developed by the multidisciplinary working group that is also in charge of following the indications of the roadmap. The multidisciplinary working group will also be involved in the following phase 3 to identify which indicators can be used.

To sum up, the second additional checklist asks to confirm:

- to have identified which methodologies/standards are the most advantageous to implement sustainable development;
- to have outlined a roadmap to be followed by the multidisciplinary working group for the implementation of the identified methodologies/standards.

5.4. Phase III: Measuring progress

This phase has been defined so that a company can become aware of how to evaluate and measure the evolution of its sustainability over time, using key indicators with a precautionary approach. This allows to interrupt and modify the process in an early stage if this does not go in the predetermined direction or if there are unforeseen problems.

Specifically, within this phase quantitative and qualitative indicators (KPIs²⁹) are suggested, in line with the pre-established roadmap. The indicators to use can be selected among those suggested by GRI and SASB³⁰ impact standard or within the 17 objectives of the 2030 Agenda. These last are increasingly important objectives also used as a basis for various indicators implemented within some national and international rating tools for both companies and universities as in the case of THE Impact Rankings (Times Higher Education, 2021).

Subsequently, the framework recommends, as the last horizontal development of this phase, to implement processes for the acquisition of information and data on an ongoing basis by developing a monitoring strategy based on the indicators identified in the previous step. This allows companies to be able to carry out timely step-by-step assessments during the pursuit of sustainability.

²⁹ KPIs: key performance indicators

³⁰ GRI: Global Reporting Initiative

SASB: Sustainability Accounting Standards Board

A graphical brief representation of this phase can be seen in Figure 5.9



Figure 5.9: Flow chart representation of Phase III of the Framework and of the third checklist

5.4.1. Third additional checklist

To move on to the final phase of the framework, a company is advised to have identified and implemented a constant monitoring process using both qualitative and quantitative indicators to have a tool capable of viewing progress and different issues as the sustainability implementation process develops.

If the company has these indicators, then the sustainability implementation process can begin as there are several tools that can monitor the process continuously and proactively.

Specifically, the checklist suggests:

- To have identified and implemented a constant monitoring process using both qualitative and quantitative indicators.

5.5. Phase IV: Communicating and reporting

The final phase has been defined so that an organization can be transparent with respect to the various stakeholders, involving them during all phases of the process and not only at the end of them. This involvement should occur through bilateral dialogue and reciprocal exchange and not as a simple form of unilateral communication of results.

As a first horizontal development, as can be seen in

Figure 5.10., the framework suggests establishing and strengthening a method for continuously communicating with the various interested parties and responding to their feedback, in order to demonstrate to be transparent and open to discussion. This process is very important because a company can both demonstrate its real commitment step by step towards the implementation of sustainability and understand through constant dialogue with stakeholders some relevant critical issues or potential not considered.

Subsequently, the framework recommends developing a communication process on the progress achieved by using internal or external reporting tools such as GRI, SASB, IR³¹, Ecolabel, or certifications. This form of communication can then be included in specific reports or on company websites. A summary flowchart of this phase is represented in

Figure 5.10.



*Once the questionnaire is completed, the framework recommends returning to PHASE I (Question 2) and starting over the sustainability implementation process by updating the materiality map, since sustainable development is a process of continuous and endless improvement.

Figure 5.10: Flow chart representation of Phase IV of the Framework

³¹ IR: Integrated Reporting

As shown in Figure 5.10, once the questionnaire is completed, the framework recommends returning to PHASE I (Question 2) and starting over the sustainability implementation process by updating the materiality map, since sustainable development is a process of continuous and endless improvement.

Indeed, at the end of the first cycle, if a company positively answers all questions, including the final one, or completes the roadmap, it will achieve greater awareness on how to identify and manage its material aspects of sustainability. The company is now ready to repeat the process, starting from the updating of the materiality map, being more critical and aware on the topic than when it started. In this way, the company can improve and optimize what has already been done, integrate other relevant aspects and set more ambitious sustainability objectives.

Furthermore, once an externality is mitigated, it will no longer be a preponderant material factor. A company, therefore, by updating its materiality map will be able to understand the new externalities, caused by new external or internal pressures identified by stakeholders or new regulations. Moreover, the company can be able to understand whether the previous sustainability actions have managed to mitigate a specific impact related to a specific pillar of sustainability and understand if and how that material aspect has evolved.

5.6. Conceptual scheme of the framework

In this subsection the whole flowchart of the framework is reported, as can be seen by Figure 5.11. Specifically, it is possible to observe the conceptual structure, consisting of the 5 phases, the flexible questionnaire and the various suggestions that make up the horizontal development. Furthermore, this scheme was used as the basis for ICT development, presented in CHAPTER 6: IT

development of the decision-making framework

83



*Once the questionnaire is completed, the framework recommends returning to PHASE I (Question 2) and starting over the sustainability implementation process by updating the materiality map, since sustainable development is a process of continuous and endless improvement.



CHAPTER 6: IT development of the decision-making framework

The framework has been implemented by an ICT expert as a web application, available at https://sustainability-dashboard.greendecision.eu, which allowed a simpler application for the case study presented in the next section.

The application which is based on the meteor framework has been programmed in TypeScript, an open-source language which is based on JavaScript by adding static type definitions.

Meteor is an open source full-stack platform for developing reactive web applications, allowing the web user interface to seamlessly reflect the underlying data, by updating and rendering the components when data changes. The Meteor structure is displayed in Figure 6.1 (Meteor, 2021).





Figure 6.1: Meteor platform overview (ASTREA IT, 2018)

Responsiveness is defined by means to the Distributed Data Protocol, which propagates changes to the underlying data to different listeners allowing changes to appear directly and immediately to all connected users. Specifically, thanks to React (<u>https://reactjs.org/</u>, which is part of the framework) only the components displaying the portion of data which changes are updated, and not the whole web page.

The data is stored in a NoSQL database, MongoDB, on which the meteor framework is based.

Mongo is a NoSQL database, in which documents are grouped into collections that can also be heterogeneous (Mongo DB, 2021b, 2021a). Specifically, each document is stored in a JSON-like format, and documents fields can vary from document to document, while the data structure can be changed over time.

The interface of the Framework has been made simple and intuitive for the user, through the possibility of navigating within the tool by single phase. An example of the developed IT application is shown in the two figures below. In Figure 6.2 the navigation within phase 1 is represented, where the user had answered affirmatively to the first 3 questions of the Framework. In Figure 6.3 on the other hand, the horizontal development inherent to the last question present in phase 1 is represented.



Figure 6.2: Example of Phase 1 of the Conceptual Framework

Has your company identified the distance between the desired future state and the current one and outlined the steps to follow to there?						
GAP ANALYSIS Methodology that allows companies to define the distance between the different scenarios and hypothesized future interventions and the current state (state 0) with respect to the concepts of sustainability and sustainable development.	Contact us					
BACKCASTING Backcasting is a specific methodology that allows the company to explore the gap between predetermined future situations and the current one through a proactive approach at the beginning in the cause-and-effect chains. Companies using this methodology are able to take steps to remove the underlying sources of problems before they occur rather than fixing the problem once it occurs.	Contact us					

CLOSE DETAILS MARK AS DONE

Figure 6.3: Example of horizontal development of Phase 1 of the Conceptual Framework

SECTION III: FRAMEWORK APPLICATION THROUGH A CASE STUDY

This third section reports the application of the developed framework to a real case study in order to understand the functionalities and the possible problems inherent to the designed logical structure and to the roadmap defined by the framework.

Initially, the SME which tested the framework is briefly presented. The application has been done in collaboration and with the contribution of GreenDecision and Strategy Innovation, two spin-offs companies of the Ca' Foscari University of Venice. These two companies are operating in the sustainability sector, with a focus on environmental issues in the case of GreenDecision and in the economic strategic sustainable development in the case of Strategy Innovation. These companies allowed to test the logical functioning of the framework, also reporting comments relating to its general structure and its usability both before the application of the framework with the case study and during the application.

The choice to test the decision-making framework through an external party was decided to allow understanding the possible problems and/or the need of additional functionalities by means of a third-party verification and to verify whether the decision-making framework could be used as a support tool for both consultants and companies. Furthermore, during the testing phase of the framework, there was also the possibility to actively support the consultants of Strategy Innovation and GreenDecision both in the evaluation of the material aspects and in the identification of some possible methodologies capable of evaluating and implementing the sustainability of the environmental pillar.

Specifically, this section provides a general overview on the characteristics of the case study, including the production sector and size. Then, the framework application process and the related results are described. This is provided by illustrating the vertical level of the framework in which the case study is positioned and the results of the flexible questionnaire. For each level, the horizontal development is represented by the different implemented methodologies and tools.

In particular, the following aspects are presented i) the material aspects (subchapter 7.1), ii) the extra-company boundaries (subchapter 7.1), iii) the initial maturity of the organization by means of the application of the maturity map (subchapter 7.2), iv) the preliminary process of stakeholder engagement (subchapter 7.3), v) the suggested methodologies at the screening level achieved using the morphological scheme (subchapter 7.4) and vi) the level reached throughout this first phase of application of the framework (subchapter 7.5). Finally, the potential and criticalities observed are exposed (CHAPTER 8: Potential and criticality of the framework).

87

CHAPTER 7: Introduction to the case study

With the aim of understanding the functionality of the corporate sustainable development roadmap defined by the decision-making framework, an SME has been selected to test this framework.

The company selected thanks to the contribution and involvement of Strategy Innovation, is a medium-sized Italian B2B³² company, with 650 employees, 3 production sites and 6 proprietary brands. The company is operating in the production and supply of electronic and electromechanical components. Specifically, the worldwide sales network covers the areas relating to large and small household appliances (main business area), automotive, heating and ventilation (HVAC), gardening and outdoor and healthcare.

Throughout the first screening meeting, it was found that the company already had previous knowledge about sustainability, its pillars, and the tools capable of evaluating, implementing, and reporting corporate sustainability. It also proved to be socially committed within community of Verona province through various initiatives. Moreover, it emerged that as one of the main objectives of 2021 was a desire to draft a non-financial report using the GRI standard.

This information allowed to overcome Phase 0 "Understanding the principles of sustainability" and to advance to the Phase I of the framework "Defining the current position and the priorities of tomorrow".

However, since the company did not have a materiality matrix, it stopped its journey at this level of the framework and entered the first horizontal development in order to start drawing up its materiality matrix. The level reached by the company during the first meeting and therefore its starting point is represented in Figure 7.1.

The next subsections represent the process of sustainability assessment and research of possible future developments undertaken with the company using the decision-making framework.

³² B2B: business to business, trade between companies



Figure 7.1: representation of the completed phase (phase 0) and the path required for the completion of phase I

7.1. Material aspects and definition of boundaries

This paragraph deals with the aspects related to the first and second questions in Figure 7.1. Initially, by means of an initial preliminary analysis deriving from the use of the pre-filled maturity matrix defined by SASB, present in Table 7.1, it was possible to verify the most important and preponderant material aspects for the company. Specifically, the priority aspects for companies operating in the same production sector of the company under assessment were examined first (Resource Transformation column)³³. Then, the possible material aspects were assessed in more detail, inspecting the micro-category to which the case study belongs (Electrical & Electronic Equipment column).

From Table 7.1 it can be noted that the aspects inherent to the environmental and governance dimensions are the most potentially critical. In these categories, there are potentially priority externalities concerning energy management, waste management, product design & life cycle management, material sourcing & efficiency and business ethics (dark grey).

In addition, generally, externalities of medium relevance (light grey) can be seen as well, such as for example, GHG emissions, air quality and employee health & safety.

³³ the Resource Transformation macro-category is made up of 5 sub-categories (Aerospace & Defense, Chemicals, Containers & Packaging, <u>Electrical & Electronic Equipment</u>, and Industrial Machinery & Goods). The light grey colour is given by the average materiality value of these 5 sub-categories.

Table 7.1: Maturity matrix pre-filled by SASB for the production sector and the sub-category inherent to the casestudy

Environment GHG Emissions Air Quality Energy Management Water & Wastewater Management Water & Wastewater Management Waste & Hazardous Materials Management Materials Management Ecological Impacts Impacts Community Relations Community Relations Customer Privacy Data Security Access & Affordability Product Quality & Safety Product Quality & Safety Selling Practices & Product Labeling Human Capital Employee Health &	SASB Dimension	REAL Dimension	General Issue Category	Resource Transformation	Electrical & Electronic Equipment
Environment Environment Water & Wastewater Management Water & Wastewater Management Water & Wastewater Management Waste & Hazardous Materials Management Materials Management Ecological Impacts Impacts Community Relations Impacts Customer Privacy Impacts Data Security Access & Affordability Product Quality & Safety Impacts Social Capital Customer Welfare Human Capital Labor Practices Human Capital Employee Health &			GHG Emissions Air Quality		
Multigenetic Waste & Hazardous Waste & Hazardous Materials Management Ecological Impacts Impacts Human Rights & Community Relations Customer Privacy Impacts Data Security Impacts Access & Affordability Impacts Product Quality & Safety Impacts Customer Welfare Impactes Selling Practices & Impactes Human Capital Employee Health &	Environment	Environment	Water & Wastewater Management		
Ecological Impacts Impacts Human Rights & Community Relations Costomer Privacy Impacts Data Security Impacts Access & Affordability Impacts Product Quality & Safety Impacts Customer Welfare Impact Safety Selling Practices & Impact Safety Human Capital Imployee Health &			Waste & Hazardous Materials Management		
Social Capital Human Rights & Community Relations Social Capital Customer Privacy Product Quality & Safety Access & Affordability Product Quality & Safety Customer Welfare Selling Practices & Product Labeling Product Labeling Human Capital Employee Health &			Ecological Impacts		
Social Capital Community Relations Social Capital Customer Privacy Product Quality & Safety Access & Affordability Customer Welfare Selling Practices & Product Labeling Labor Practices Employee Health &			Human Rights &		
Social Capital Customer Privacy Image: Customer Privacy Social Capital Data Security Image: Customer Privacy Social Capital Product Quality & Safety Image: Customer Welfare Customer Welfare Image: Customer Welfare Image: Customer Welfare Selling Practices & Product Labeling Image: Customer Welfare Image: Customer Welfare Human Capital Employee Health & Image: Customer Welfare Image: Customer Welfare			Community Relations		
Social Capital Data Security Image: Constant of the security of t			Customer Privacy		
Social Capital Access & Affordability Image: Constant of the second			Data Security		
Social Capital Product Quality & Safety Customer Welfare	Social Canital		Access & Affordability		
Human Capital Customer Welfare Selling Practices & Product Labeling Labor Practices Employee Health &		Social Capital	Product Quality & Safety		
Selling Practices & Product Labeling Labor Practices Human Capital Employee Health &			Customer Welfare		
Product Labeling Labor Practices Human Capital Employee Health &			Selling Practices &		
Labor Practices Human Capital Employee Health &			Product Labeling		
Human Capital Employee Health &			Labor Practices		
	Human Capital		Employee Health &		
Safety			Safety		
			Employee Engagement,		
Product Design & Lifecycle Management			Product Design & Lifecycle Management		
Business Model & Besilience	Business Model &		Business Model		
Innovation Supply Chain	Innovation		Supply Chain		
Management			Management		
Materials Sourcing & Efficiency			Materials Sourcing & Efficiency		
Physical Impacts of			Physical Impacts of		
Climate Change		Governance	Climate Change		
Business Ethics			Business Ethics		
Competitive Behavior			Competitive Behavior		
Management of the Legal			Management of the Legal		
Leadership & & Regulatory	Leadership &		& Regulatory		
Governance Environment	Governance		Environment		
Critical Incident Risk			Critical Incident Risk		
Management			Management		
Systemic KISK Management			Systemic Risk Management		

Subsequently, after examining the "standard" material aspects proposed by the SASB materiality matrix and using them as a benchmark, the process of identifying the priority material aspects which are specific for the company began.

This allowed to start the first phase of research and consultation with the priority stakeholders. Through a careful study carried out with consultants, 13 key material aspects have been identified and represented in Figure 7.2.These material aspects have been divided into the environmental, social and governance pillars, after a scrupulous evaluation and discussion with the company. As can be seen from Figure 7.2., some material aspects, that in the SASB matrix are present under the governance pillar, have been included in the environmental or social pillars (i.e., product design & life cycle management, supply chain management, materials sourcing & efficiency and business ethics). This was a choice of the multidisciplinary team, composed of economist, sociologist and environmental scientist, who felt, also evaluating all the potential indirect criticalities, that these aspects were a priority for other pillars.

From this evaluation of the priority aspects, it was verified that the case study was proactive about the search for possible externalities, especially related to environmental and social issues. Indeed, as can be seen from the specific material aspects of the company (Figure 7.2.), there has been a more in-depth research and evaluation which allowed the identification of additional material aspects compared to the material aspects suggested by SASB (see Table 7.1).

This first phase of preliminary assessment of the material aspects allowed to understand the real company boundaries. By doing so, it was also possible to identify in more detail the various priority stakeholders: foreign customers, Italian customers, distributors, service providers, component suppliers, public administration, private citizens of the Verona area, third sector and associations, company property, and all employees.

91

Environmental	Social	Governance
Criticality ³⁴ of the	Health and safety of	Communication,
articles produced	workers	information on
Masta materials		environmental and
rosources and operav		social sustainability
resources, and energy	Social ecosystem	issues
Territorial natural		
ecosystem		Proactive and
Chemical safety of	Well-being of the	innovative partnership
product	staff ³⁵	
Search for new, less	Business ethics and	National European
impactful technologies		and global directives
Eco-design of products	Social value	

 Table 7.2: Description of the 13 material aspects that emerged during the screening phase

³⁴ Criticality of the articles produced means the possible negative environmental externalities caused directly and indirectly during the production process.

³⁵ The well-being of workers is understood such as happiness, respect, non-discrimination, etc.

7.1.1. Interpretation of environmental materiality

Although the case study focused on the application of the whole framework, which has the objective of guiding a company in an integrated analysis including all the sustainability pillars, the writer of this thesis specifically contributed to the evaluation of the material aspects related to the environmental pillar, which are reported in Figure 7.2. Following the sustainability road map proposed by the framework, the writer of this thesis suggested possible methodologies that could evaluate in more detail the environmental impacts and the actions for implementing the company's sustainability. These suggestions have indirect effects, to some extent, also to the other pillars.

Albeit the discussion on methodologies or standards to be implemented is not included in the present level of the framework, the discussion between the company and the sustainability experts anticipated this assessment. This allowed to provide the company with possible creative and original solutions at the screening level that could be subsequently integrated with the results deriving from the use of the morphological scheme, present in subchapter 7.4.

Specifically, various complementary options have been identified and then suggested regarding the different environmental externalities encountered by the company along with the possible methodologies and standards that can be used to measure them.

As a first step, it was decided to suggest a Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) study of the corporate process at the screening level, through a cradle-to-the-gate³⁶ assessment. Then, it was suggested to perform an Eco-design LCA study comparing the flagship product to different alternatives produced with less impacting components. Such LCA study could be implemented through a search for more "sustainable" alternative raw materials or components and by means of proactive and innovative partnerships to be pursued in collaboration with universities.

LCA is an objective standardized methodology, regulated at the level of ISO 14040 and 14044, which allows quantifying direct and indirect emissions, resources, energy and environmental impacts throughout the life cycle of a product or service (Chomkhamsri et al., 2011; Wolf et al., 2010).

The life cycle indicates all the phases, of a product or process, which are there starting from the extraction of raw materials, up to the use of the product and its disposal. LCA studies can be divided into different categories, the most complete study is defined as cradle-to-cradle or closed-loop-production. It evaluates the impacts along the entire process from the extraction of raw materials to the end of life, including the avoided impact deriving from product recycling. Up to less complex

³⁶ type of LCA study that directly and indirectly evaluates the impacts from the resource extraction process to product packaging or at the end of a company's production process

analysis, gate-to-gate studies assess the impacts only within the company. This type of study allows understanding which are the production processes with the greatest criticalities and wastes, and it allows activating reuse and recycling paths for waste in line with efficiency and circularity.

Furthermore, LCA could help to understand the production processes that require more resources and that are more energy-consuming in order to identify possible options to minimize these externalities and to identify priorities for intervention.

Another potential of the two proposed LCA study options is the assessment of the impacts on health and the natural environment. Indeed, LCA allows both at the midpoint and endpoint³⁷ levels, to have an assessment of the impacts on human health and the ecosystem. Specifically, some of the midpoint indicators are very specific, providing information about freshwater and marine eutrophication, human carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic toxicity, land use, terrestrial, marine, and freshwater ecotoxicity just to name a few.

The natural ecosystem turned out to be one of the key elements of the materiality analysis.

In this sense, it could be possible to intervene directly by enhancing the territorial natural resources and activating virtuous paths in the use of renewable energy and the reduction of emissions. In order to apply these strategies, a methodology to be used in parallel to the LCA is the carbon footprint of the entire company system. This methodology is able to understand the different emissions of an organization and subsequently evaluate the strategies to be adopted.

Carbon footprint (CF) is a standardised methodology for quantifying the impacts resulting from greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The GHGs measured come from both direct and indirect emission and are converted into a single unit of measurement corresponding to the equivalent carbon dioxide (CO₂eq) (ISO, 2018; Pandey et al., 2011). One of the advantages that differentiate CF from the LCA methodology is its ability to be applied to the entire company organization.

³⁷ midpoint: mid-level impact indicators, identified by the Recipe calculation method. They consist of 18 indicators that assess the environmental impacts of a process or product.

endpoint: final impact indicators, identified by the Recipe calculation method. They consist of a clearer vision of the environmental impacts of a process or product by assessing the impact through 3 indicators: Human health, Ecosystems and Resources. These indicators are not formed by the simple sum of the midpoint level indicators.

Moreover, in order to have a proactive and anticipatory attitude towards upcoming international, European and national environmental regulations it was also proposed to activate an observatory on environmental issues.

This observatory will have the aim of actively dialogue on new possible future directives and could be managed by the corporate group that deals with sustainability (CSR manager and accountable employees), by the delegates of the public administration, by the third sector and be open to all the other stakeholders.
7.2. Maturity

This paragraph deals with the aspects related to the third question in Figure 7.1. Following the identification of i) the material aspects, ii) the main stakeholders, and iii) the company boundaries (as described in the previous sections), the first draft of maturity was defined, using the BS8900 maturity matrix, as suggested by the framework.

This process allowed defining the starting state of the company regarding the broader aspects of sustainability (not only ESG) useful for understanding the corporate identity and to make the company undertake a virtuous path towards sustainability, and to identify whether the commitments and efforts of the company were oriented towards transparent and real strategies of sustainable medium-long term development.

Specifically, to be able to define the initial state of the company, the issues relating to integrity, inclusivity, stewardship, and transparency were investigated. The maturity matrix also allowed understanding in more detail the position of the organization with respect to the social pillar, very often difficult to identify as reported by Missmer et al., (Missimer et al., 2010).

As can be seen from table Table 7.3, which summarizes the key issues of maturity, the case study has strong social commitments, which positively affects the social pillar. Indeed, it is possible to note, for example, various commitments on the part of the organization, both internal through a structured and shared code of ethics and external by means of various collaborations with Onlus and Cooperatives.

In particular, it was possible to observe the proactive attitude towards the new generations, by means of the collaboration with "ABC dello Sport", workshop of talents and school-work alternation programs as well as to help people in difficulty.

At the administration level, there is a CSR manager, at the head of a group of six people who seek to create shared value, generating a process of mutual exchange between the organization and the community. By the end of 2021, as previously reported, the company will draw up its first sustainability report through the GRI standards to increase its levels of transparency and involvement with the outside world.

Principles	Current case study initiatives
	The organization actively collaborates with various entities such as:
	- "Amani Onlus", for the building schools, hospitals, and reception centres on the African continent.
Integrity	- "Exodus Community" for the recovery of drug addicts.
	- "Casa Dacia Foundation", operating in the integration of the Romanian community within the Veneto region.
	- "ABC dello Sport", for the development of the new generations thanks to sport and its principles and values.
	The company has activated active involvement processes through:
	- "Cooperativa Monteverde", which is responsible for supporting boys and girls with different abilities.
	- "Alternanza Scuola Lavoro", an internship program with the aim of bringing students closer to working
Inclusivity	realities.
	- "Workshop of Talents": training program, internal to the company, for non-employed people, with the aim
	of providing specialized technical skills for future inclusion in the world of work
	- Prisons of Verona and Arad: collaboration programs with inmates.
	Within the organization, there is the presence of a CSR manager, actively involved within the board of directors.
Stowardship	The team in charge of CSR and sustainability issues is made up of 6 people who actively involve all company staff,
Stewaruship	customers, and suppliers through a structured and shared code of ethics. With the aim of creating common value,
	to respond to social and local needs.
Transparoney	By the end of 2021, the company wants to publish the first sustainability report following the non-financial reporting
папэрагенсу	system of GRI.

Table 7.3: Schematic of the corporate maturity with respect to the pillars defined by BS 8900 parallel to the ESG pillars of sustainability

7.3. Stakeholders' engagement

Once the priority stakeholders and the various externalities defined by the material aspects were identified, the company was asked to activate a process of confrontation with the stakeholders in order to be able to jointly define the various key material aspects and visions of the sustainable future, in line with the aspects related to the last two questions of phase I, present in Figure 7.1. The stakeholder engagement phase was launched by requiring the active participation of priority stakeholders (internal and external to the organization). Specifically, the stakeholders to whom the request for participation was sent included foreign customers, Italian customers, distributors, service providers, component suppliers, public administration, private citizens of the Verona area, third sector and associations, property, and all employees. In addition to the request for participation, the materiality assessment was sent to these stakeholders in order to provide initial information on the work already carried out.

While waiting for responses and planning the meetings, it was decided, thanks to the flexibility of the roadmap defined by the framework, to start a screening process of the various future options, with the aim of providing some alternatives to be discussed in the future meetings with stakeholders.

In particular, in line with the backcasting methodology identified by the Natural Step, an internal consultation was launched to understand the ideal and utopian future vision of sustainability.

After completing this discussion process, it emerged that the current preliminary objective of the company, to be agreed with the key stakeholders, is to increase the well-being of both internal and external stakeholders and at the same time to minimize the environmental impacts and risks of their production processes. By means of this future "utopian" vision, it was, therefore, possible to understand the distance from the current state of the company to that specific objective.

Specifically, observing the 13 material aspects highlighted by the company at the screening level and the defined future vision, it can be assessed at a qualitative level that the objective set by the company in the long term is very far-sighted and distant from the current state. This will involve a long journey and several creative and original solutions to direct the company towards this future "utopian" vision.

7.4. Definition of methodologies

Following future "utopian" scenario, the company was asked to move on to the next phase of the framework called "identification of interventions", presented in Figure 7.2. The goal was to be able to assess future steps and to start at the screening level to think about laying the foundations for the continuation of the journey.



Figure 7.2: Representation of phase II of the framework

This choice was made to have further information to be delivered to the stakeholders, and to be able to apply and test the developed morphological scheme, a tool suggested as a horizontal development of the first question of phase II.

As can be seen from Table 7.4, Table 7.5 and Table 7.6, the company has decided to assign an average level (2) to the different parameters of the morphological scheme used to evaluate the different methodologies or standards suggested for the environmental, social and integrated pillars. In this screening and testing phase, an average value was selected for each parameter because the company and the consultants intended to observe possible options that could be implemented in parallel and synchronously in line with the integrated environmental and social sustainable development outlined with the future vision. For this reason, it was thought that an average level could be suitable for this purpose.

Indeed, probably, if the company had selected level 3 for every single parameter (excluding the "pillar" parameter), the suggested methodologies/standards could have been too demanding to be carried out in parallel with other methodologies.

Furthermore, the framework suggests that sustainable development is a long and continuous process, which must be implemented strategically in the long term and not in order to achieve a result in the short term.

As result, the tool suggested six possible future implementations to improve the environmental, social, and integrated sustainability of the company:

- ISO 14001 (Environmental Management System) for the environmental pillar;
- Benefit Corporation for the social pillar;
- ISO 9001 (Quality Management System), AA 1000 (Accountability), ISO 26000 (Social Responsibility) and The Natural Step for the integrated pillar.

These six results, together with the methodologies suggested after the evaluation of the material aspects, can be used as possible alternatives in the subsequent decision analysis (MCDA or SWOT analysis) with the aim of being able to interpret the most correct and suitable methodology to be used. Indeed, the morphological scheme is a decision support tool that provides indications that can be integrated with further methodologies/standards by the company or by consultants as in this case.

Specifically, the ISO 9001 standard was excluded from the selection since the case study was already certified according to the ISO9001: 2008 standards.

By focusing on the environmental pillar, the environmental management system ISO 14001 could be a standard to be used in parallel with the Life Cycle Assessment and Carbon footprint methodologies described in sub-chapter 7.1.1.

Indeed, ISO 14001 is an international standard, which can be used by any organization regardless of its business sector and which establishes the fundamental criteria for an Environmental Management System (EMS) (International Organization for Standardization, 2015, 2017).

The EMS represents a tool that allows an organization to comply with the regulations in force and to develop a self-control system that identifies and manages the present and future impacts of the company on the environment through a planned process that allows continuously improve its environmental performance (ISPRA, 2018).

In particular, the use of ISO 14001 guarantees company management, employees and external stakeholders that the relevant environmental aspects are characterized, measured and improved (International Organization for Standardization, 2015, 2017).

This standard has mainly two strengths:

- a systemic approach to the management of environmental aspects relating to corporate service processes;
- overcomes the limits and boundaries of mere legislative compliance.

Furthermore, as reported in SECTION I, in some studies concerning ISO 14001, positive externalities were also produced in the social pillar (Asif et al., 2013; Brammer et al., 2012; Curkovic & Sroufe, 2011; Daddi et al., 2011; Delmas et al., 2011; Maletic et al., 2015; Neves et al., 2017; Uhlaner et al., 2012; Upstill-Goddard et al., 2016).

This could indirectly implement the social pillar in an integrated and parallel way and thus advance the company with respect to its future vision.

Table 7.4: Results resulting from the application of the morphological scheme for the environmental pillar

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	1 - Simple average amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	1 - External support strongly recommended but not essential	1 - Low-medium potential of the methodology	1 - Low-medium potential on image / external communication
SOCIAL	2 - Medium-high amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	2 - External support needed	2 - Medium-high potential of the methodology	2 - Medium-high impact on image / external communication
INTEGRATED	3 - High amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	3 - External support essential to apply the methodology / standard and strongly present	3 - High potential of the methodology	3 - High impact on image / external communication

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	2	2	2	2

ENVIRONMENTAL	SOCIAL	INTEGRATED
ISO 14001		
(ENVIRONMENTAL		
MANAGEMENT		
SYSTEM)		

Table 7.5: Results resulting from the application of the morphological scheme for the social pillar

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	1 - Simple average amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	1 - External support strongly recommended but not essential	1 - Low-medium potential of the methodology	1 - Low-medium potential on image / external communication
SOCIAL	2 - Medium-high amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	2 - External support needed	2 - Medium-high potential of the methodology	2 - Medium-high impact on image / external communication
INTEGRATED	3 - High amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	3 - External support essential to apply the methodology / standard and strongly present	3 - High potential of the methodology	3 - High impact on image / external communication

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
SOCIAL	2	2	2	2

ENVIRONMENTAL	SOCIAL	INTEGRATED
	BENEFIT CORPORATION	

Table 7.6: Results resulting from the application of the morphological scheme for the integrated pillar

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
ENVIRONMENTAL	1 - Simple average amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	1 - External support strongly recommended but not essential	1 - Low-medium potential of the methodology	1 - Low-medium potential on image / external communication
SOCIAL	2 - Medium-high amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	2 - External support needed	2 - Medium-high potential of the methodology	2 - Medium-high impact on image / external communication
INTEGRATED	3 - High amount of both input data and resources (personnel, time, information, etc.)	3 - External support essential to apply the methodology / standard and strongly present	3 - High potential of the methodology	3 - High impact on image / external communication

PILLAR	COMPLEXITY + RESOURCES	EXTERNAL SUPPORT	POTENTIAL + CONSISTENCY OF RESULTS	COMMUNICATION
INTEGRATED	2	2	2	2

ENVIRONMENTAL	SOCIAL	INTEGRATED
		ISO 9001 (QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)
		AA1000 (ACCOUNT ABILITY)
		ISO 26000 (SOCIAL RESPONSABILITY)
		THE NATURAL STEP

7.5. Level reached by the preliminary application of the framework

The preliminary application of the framework allowed, as detailed in Figure 7.3, the case study to mark the beginning of its first journey towards increasing awareness of its priority material aspects and in identifying possible future scenarios.



Figure 7.3: Level reached by the preliminary application of the framework. Green colour indicates completed procedures. The blue colour indicates that the procedures are awaiting approval and/or modification by the stakeholders. The red colour indicates the level not developed yet

Furthermore, currently, the company is in the process of discussion and dialogue with key stakeholders with respect to the first obtained results.

Specifically, the next objectives will initially be to finalize the material aspects and the future vision of sustainability through the participation of key stakeholders. Subsequently, the case study will have to define, using the backcasting methodology, the creative and customized solutions to achieve this vision. To define the individual creative solutions, the company will use, as a suggestion, the methodologies or standards that emerged throughout the evaluation of the material aspects and by the use of the morphological scheme. Specifically, the company will evaluate through multi-criteria analysis (MCDA) or SWOT analysis which are the best methodologies/standards among those that emerged during this screening phase (assessment of the material aspects and morphological scheme) to be implemented.

CHAPTER 8: Potential and criticality of the framework

Through the preliminary application of the framework, although it was not tested to the end, it was possible to understand in more detail the various potentials and criticalities of the guideline defined by the framework, also thanks to the involvement of the sustainability consultants of the two spin-off companies.

First of all, starting to evaluate the framework at a general level, it was possible to observe that the modularity at the base of the phases can allow the framework to continuously update the horizontal and vertical development. This could allow, in the future, to modify and add questions, methodologies and tools within the framework. Modularity is a fundamental factor for the framework, making it responsive to future pressures with respect to the standardization of non-financial reporting and the European taxonomy.

Furthermore, thanks to the initial questionnaire, it was possible to find potential adaptability of the framework to different companies' characteristics. Specifically, an organization that has already an idea of future sustainability objectives and of the tools to be used to understand its current state will be sent to the most suitable level of the framework corresponding to its characteristics.

Finally, based on a cyclic questionnaire, the roadmap established by the framework allows a company to continue using the framework and continuously implement sustainability within its organization.

By carrying out a more detailed assessment and focusing the attention on the various suggestions included in the horizontal developments, it emerged that the integrated approach of i) viewing the standard material aspects for a company belonging to the same production sector and type according to the pre-filled matrix of SASB and ii) being able to draw up a list of material aspects specific for the company can allow a clearer understanding of what may be the material aspects that need to be assessed. Furthermore, this integrated approach just described is able to make the company an active actor in the identification of the various material aspects.

Parallel to the various found potentialities, some critical issues were noted that can be resolved and implemented in the future.

One of the most critical aspects concerns the morphological scheme. Currently, the defined parameters could make the company search for the methodology that requires less effort and resources (i.e., the one positioned at level 1 for most of or all the parameters), therefore with an incorrect approach to sustainability. For this reason, an assessment is under development with the

objective of modifying the various parameters and improving the structure and functionality of the morphological scheme.

In addition, during the testing phase, it emerged that both the consultants and the company, when defining in detail the backcasting at the screening level, requested to test the morphological scheme before having evaluated the different creative and customized solutions to achieve the future vision. Indeed, the consultants and the company have pointed out that once the "utopian" future vision of sustainability have been defined, before being able to research all the steps to follow, it would have been useful and interesting to use the morphological scheme to preliminary understand the possible available actions to achieve the future vision.

An interesting aspect found is that the company was able to freely navigate between the first and second phase to solve its doubts and search for the process that best suits its needs, switching between one question and the next continuously under the guidance of qualified personnel. Although this framework is designed to allow SMEs to independently implement its path towards sustainability, the support of an external consultant who can suggest and guide the identification of material aspects and possible alternatives can lead to a more efficient use of the framework.

DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

This thesis has allowed to understand the complex reality of corporate sustainability, which is the new paradigm of the 21st century. From the first section of this thesis, it was possible to initially observe the different tools currently existing that can guide companies in the processes of assessment, implementation, and reporting sustainability. Subsequently, it was possible to understand the intrinsic criticalities deriving from the non-standardized proliferation of instruments inherent to corporate sustainability. Although as emerged in CHAPTER 3: Commitments and future prospects, there is currently a concrete push towards a form of standardization promoted by public institutions and private companies, such as the initiatives concerning the European taxonomy or the revision of the directive on the non-financial declaration.

Subsequently, there was the possibility of observing the design and development of a modular decision-making framework that could act both as a guideline on corporate sustainable development and as a tool to understand how to approach sustainability objectively and concretely by implementing a long-term vision.

The developed decision-making framework, although still a work in progress, thanks to its modularity, adaptability, and the possibility of continuous updating, can be a useful tool to be used as a roadmap for both business consultants and companies to undertake the journey towards sustainable development.

Specifically, the flexible questionnaire based on eleven questions allows a company to easily enter the most suitable vertical level of the framework.

Through the synergy of vertical and horizontal development, the framework allows an organization to understand which most suitable methodologies or tools could be implemented to advance in a planned and strategic way towards a more sustainable future.

From the application of the case study and the related debate among the sustainability consultants, it was possible to observe how the roadmap defined by the framework can make companies follow a concrete and cyclical path.

In addition, the framework, thanks to the decision-making methodologies (morphological scheme, MCDA and SWOT Analysis) present within the identification phase of the interventions, allows to make companies understand the possible best strategies for implementing the future vision through an objective logical process.

Indeed, thanks to the integrated use of decision-making tools such as the morphological scheme, SWOT analysis and multi-criteria analysis, the framework could be able to accurately define the most suitable implementation methodologies.

Furthermore, throughout the case study, it was possible to suggest to the company the actions and methodologies to be implemented in order to intervene on the material aspects encountered. Specifically, the primary focus of this dissertation was to support the company and the sustainability consultants in the identification of the methodologies/standards and actions inherent to the environmental pillar, while the governance and social pillars were only partially and indirectly assessed.

To summarize, it was possible to notice how the developed Framework initially allows a company or consultant to understand the current state of sustainability and to think proactively and preventively about possible future scenarios. Subsequently, the framework allows to understand through objective decisional methodologies which could be the most suitable methodology for a company to be implemented to reach the predetermined future vision. Moreover, it also allows (phases not shown through the case study application) to identify a series of qualitative and quantitative indicators specific to the pre-established intervention and to create an active monitoring process to verify the real progress of the process to intervene promptly if the company is not progressing towards the pre-established future vision. Finally, the framework allows first to start the sustainability implementation process strategically and then to be able to communicate it externally.

In conclusion, although the framework is still in its infancy and needs several improvements, it can be a good starting point to develop a more complete and consistent support tool with respect to the assessment, implementation, and reporting of integrated corporate sustainability.

Limitations and future improvements for the research

One of the first limitations of this final dissertation, as discussed above, is that the framework was tested through the case study only up to phase II. This did not, therefore, allow to fully observe both the functioning of the instrument and additional problems that may not have emerged during the design and discussion phase with consultants and experts.

The implemented morphological scheme presents one of the highest limitations and controversies of this study. As it was found throughout the application, the morphological scheme can be improperly used by a company to verify the lowest commitment strategies, without therefore a real

push and participation towards sustainability. Indeed, this misuse could still create a possible implementation of sustainability, but most likely at a minimum level.

The framework was also tested at a preliminary level, without real stakeholder participation, thus stopping at the definition of the boundaries and priority stakeholders.

Furthermore, since the company is very present within the Verona area, it already had its own list of priority stakeholders. This, therefore, did not allow the use of the stakeholder map designed and inserted within the Framework, thus depriving the ability to understand if the type of stakeholder map inserted within the framework could be effective.

As future improvements, in addition to the completion of the roadmap defined by the framework to verify the possible non-emerged criticalities, it will be necessary to redefine the morphological scheme as objectively as possible. For example, this can be done by modifying the 5-input data so as to be able to request i) which pillar to investigate, ii) if the company wants a methodology inherent to the whole organization or only for a specific industrial process and iii) how much time does the company intend to invest in the implementation of this methodology/standard.

Another possible future improvement of the framework could be to expand the types of methodologies and standards present within the morphological scheme by requesting the related information through another questionnaire that should be open to more experts. Indeed, some methodologies and standards proposed in the questionnaire showed a low or no response rate which resulted in a less comprehensive assessment than the others.

In this case, the questionnaire should be modified by asking for information in a scale of 1-3 for all questions, to avoid additional normalizations and subsequent change of scale.

Furthermore, a possible future evolution of the framework could be to allow the company, through an iterative approach, to define the preliminary steps to reach the future vision by means the use of the morphological scheme and possibly to review them on the basis of how much the methodologies/standards available within the morphological scheme allow the company to achieve the pre-established future vision of sustainability.

Surely, an important aspect is to test the framework in other case studies by involving other sustainability experts. This additional test could support the identification of new issues to be solved and in the understanding of what other tools and methodologies could be included and how to modify the conceived roadmap.

In conclusion, the framework was tested in a company that is already very transparent and concretely projected towards sustainability and with the support of experts in sustainability.

To better understand the real potential or criticality of the framework, it would be useful to test it without the help of consultants and in a company that has limited knowledge of the aspects of sustainability.

REFERENCES

 Amelio, F., Perrini, F., Palumbo, M., Minichilli, A., Dallai, S., & Romito, S. (2018). Osservatorio Nazionale sulla Rendicontazione non Finanziaria ex D.Lgs. 254/2016. https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/it/Documents/audit/Osservatorio DNF_I Report Ottobre 2018 Deloitte Italia.pdf

Amini, M., & Bienstock, C. C. (2014). Corporate sustainability: An integrative definition and framework to evaluate corporate practice and guide academic research. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *76*, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.02.016

Asif, M., & Searcy, C. (2014). Towards a standardised management system for corporate sustainable development. *The TQM Journal*, *26*(5), 411–430. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-08-2012-0057

Asif, M., Searcy, C., Zutshi, A., & Fisscher, O. A. M. (2013). An integrated management systems approach to corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *56*, 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.10.034

ASTREA IT. (2018). *METEOR : AN INTRODUCTION*. https://astreait.com/Meteor_Platform_App/ ASviS. (2020). *Dal Green Deal al Next Generation EU*.

https://asvis.it/public/asvis2/files/Pubblicazioni/Quaderno_Obiettivi_di_sviluppo_sostenibile_ e_politiche_europee.pdf

Atkins, J., & Maroun, W. (2015). Integrated reporting in South Africa in 2012. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, *23*(2), 197–221. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-07-2014-0047

B Corpation. (2021). *Certified B Corporations meet the highest standards of verified social and environmental performance, transparency and accountability*. https://bcorporation.net

B Corporation. (2021a). *About B Corps*. https://bcorporation.eu/about-b-corps

B Corporation. (2021b). *Certification Requirements*. https://bcorporation.net/certification/meet-the-requirements

B Corporation. (2021c). *La Certificazione B Corpo in Italia*. https://bcorporation.eu/about-b-lab/country-partner/italy

B impact Assessment. (2021). *Compare your Impact*. https://bimpactassessment.net/how-it-works/compare-your-impact#see-sample-report

B Lab. (2019). The Complete Guide to B Corp Certification for Small to Medium-Sized Enterprises. 17. https://go.pardot.com/l/39792/2018-07-

30/8h2gfd/39792/168031/Complete_Guide_to_B_Corp_Certification_for_SME.pdf B Lab Europe. (2021). *Società Benefit*. https://www.societabenefit.net

Baumgartner, R. J. (2014). Managing corporate sustainability and CSR: A conceptual framework combining values, strategies and instruments contributing to sustainable development. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 21(5), 258–271. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1336

Baumgartner, R. J., & Ebner, D. (2010). Corporate sustainability strategies: sustainability profiles and maturity levels. *Sustainable Development*, *18*(2), 76–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.447

Berg, F., Kölbel, J., & Rigobon, R. (2019). Aggregate Confusion: The Divergence of ESG Ratings. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3438533

Birkin, A., Voigt, I. K., & Stoess, P. (2020). Three ways ESG factors can make portfolios more resilient post COVID-19. *Ernst & Young (EY)*. https://www.ey.com/en_gl/financial-services-emeia/three-ways-esg-factors-can-make-portfolios-more-resilient-post-covid-19

Bocken, N. M. P., Short, S. W., Rana, P., & Evans, S. (2014). A literature and practice review to develop sustainable business model archetypes. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 65, 42–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.11.039

Brammer, S., Hoejmose, S., & Marchant, K. (2012). Environmental Management in SMEs in the UK:

Practices, Pressures and Perceived Benefits. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 21(7), 423–434. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.717

- Bratt, C. (2014). Integrating a Strategic Sustainability Perspective into Eco-Labelling, Procurement and Supply Chain Management [Blekinge Institute of Technology]. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:bth-00585%0A
- British Standards. (2017). Framework for implementing the principles of the circular economy in organizations Guide. *BSI Standards Limited*, 90. https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/standards/benefits-of-using-standards/becoming-more-sustainable-with-standards/BS8001-Circular-Economy/
- British Standards Institution. (2013a). BSI Standards Publication Managing sustainable development of organizations Part 1 Guide.

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030319434

British Standards Institution. (2013b). Managing sustainable development of organizations – Part 2 : Framework for assessment against BS 8900-1 – Specification.

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030271079

- Broman, G. I., & Robèrt, K.-H. (2017). A framework for strategic sustainable development. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 140, 17–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.10.121
- Busco, C., Consolandi, C., Eccles, R. G., & Sofra, E. (2020). A Preliminary Analysis of SASB Reporting: Disclosure Topics, Financial Relevance, and the Financial Intensity of ESG Materiality. *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, 32(2), 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1111/jacf.12411
- Carleton, T., Larsson, A., & Bill, S. (2011). *Workshop Facilitation*. http://www.moveworkshop.com/MOVE_Handbook.pdf
- CDP, CDSB, GRI, IFRS, IIRC, & ISO. (2016). *Statement of Common Principles of Materiality of the Corporate Reporting Dialogue*. https://corporatereportingdialogue.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Statement-of-Common-Principles-of-Materiality.pdf
- Chatterji, A. K., Durand, R., Levine, D. I., & Touboul, S. (2016). Do ratings of firms converge? Implications for managers, investors and strategy researchers. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*(8), 1597–1614. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2407

Cheng, M., Green, W., Conradie, P., Konishi, N., & Romi, A. (2014). The International Integrated Reporting Framework: Key Issues and Future Research Opportunities. *Journal of International Financial Management & Accounting*, *25*(1), 90–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/jifm.12015

- Chomkhamsri, K., Wolf, M.-A., & Pant, R. (2011). International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook: Review Schemes for Life Cycle Assessment. In *Towards Life Cycle Sustainability Management* (pp. 107–117). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1899-9_11
- Christen, M., & Schmidt, S. (2012). A Formal Framework for Conceptions of Sustainability a Theoretical Contribution to the Discourse in Sustainable Development. *Sustainable Development*, *20*(6), 400–410. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.518
- Christofi, A., Christofi, P., & Sisaye, S. (2012). Corporate sustainability: historical development and reporting practices. *Management Research Review*, *35*(2), 157–172. https://doi.org/10.1108/01409171211195170
- Corporate Reporting Dialogue. (2018). The Better Alignment Project (the Project) brings together five members of the Corporate Reporting Dialogue (CRD) with globally important sustainabilityrelated frameworks and standards (the Participants) to explore how they can more effectively support. https://corporatereportingdialogue.com/climatereport2019/introduction.html

Cosimi, D. S., & Ameri, D. (2021, April 17). I nuovi lavori della transizione. *La Repubblica*. https://rep.repubblica.it/pwa/d/2021/04/17/news/i_nuovi_lavori_della-296537188/

Crane, A., & Glozer, S. (2016). Researching Corporate Social Responsibility Communication: Themes,

Opportunities and Challenges. *Journal of Management Studies*, *53*(7), 1223–1252. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12196

- Curkovic, S., & Sroufe, R. (2011). Using ISO 14001 to promote a sustainable supply chain strategy. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *20*(2), 71–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.671
- Daddi, T., Magistrelli, M., Frey, M., & Iraldo, F. (2011). Do environmental management systems improve environmental performance? Empirical evidence from Italian companies. *Environment, Development and Sustainability, 13*(5), 845–862. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-011-9294-8
- del Mar Alonso-Almeida, M., Llach, J., & Marimon, F. (2014). A Closer Look at the 'Global Reporting Initiative' Sustainability Reporting as a Tool to Implement Environmental and Social Policies: A Worldwide Sector Analysis. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 21(6), 318–335. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1318
- Delmas, M., Hoffmann, V. H., & Kuss, M. (2011). Under the Tip of the Iceberg: Absorptive Capacity, Environmental Strategy, and Competitive Advantage. *Business & Society*, *50*(1), 116–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650310394400
- Dienes, D., Sassen, R., & Fischer, J. (2016). What are the drivers of sustainability reporting? A systematic review. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal, 7*(2), 154–189. https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-08-2014-0050
- Dooms, M. (2019). Stakeholder Management for Port Sustainability. In *Green Ports* (pp. 63–84). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814054-3.00004-9
- Du, S., Bhattacharya, C. B., & Sen, S. (2010). Maximizing Business Returns to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR): The Role of CSR Communication. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 12(1), 8–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2009.00276.x
- Dumay, J., Bernardi, C., Guthrie, J., & La Torre, M. (2017). Barriers to implementing the International Integrated Reporting Framework. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, *25*(4), 461– 480. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-05-2017-0150
- Eccles, R. G., Ioannou, I., & Serafeim, G. (2014). The Impact of Corporate Sustainability on Organizational Processes and Performance. *Management Science*, *60*(11), 2835–2857. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2014.1984
- Eccles, R. G., Krzus, M. P., Rogers, J., & Serafeim, G. (2012). The Need for Sector-Specific Materiality and Sustainability Reporting Standards. *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, *24*(2), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6622.2012.00380.x
- Eccles, R. G., & Saltzman, D. (2011). Achieving Sustainability through Integrated Reporting. Stanford Social Innovation. *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, 56–61.

http://www.people.hbs.edu/reccles/2011su_features_%0Decclessaltzman.pdf Edgley, C. (2014). A genealogy of accounting materiality. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 25(3),

255–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpa.2013.06.001

Edgley, C., Jones, M. J., & Atkins, J. (2015). The adoption of the materiality concept in social and environmental reporting assurance: A field study approach. *The British Accounting Review*, *47*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bar.2014.11.001

Engert, S., Rauter, R., & Baumgartner, R. J. (2016). Exploring the integration of corporate sustainability into strategic management: a literature review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *112*, 2833–2850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.08.031

Engida, T. G., Rao, X., Berentsen, P. B. M., & Oude Lansink, A. G. J. M. (2018). Measuring corporate sustainability performance– the case of European food and beverage companies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 195, 734–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.05.095

Ernst & Young. (2014). Sustainability Reporting: the Time is Now. https://www.eycom.ch/en/Publications/20141028-Sustainability-reporting-the-time-isnow/download

- Ernst & Young, & Boston College Centre. (2014). Value of sustainability reporting A study by EY and Boston College Center for Corporate Citizenship. *EYGM Limited.* http://globalsustain.org/files/ACM_BC_Corporate_Center.pdf
- Escrig-Olmedo, E., Fernández-Izquierdo, M., Ferrero-Ferrero, I., Rivera-Lirio, J., & Muñoz-Torres, M. (2019). Rating the Raters: Evaluating how ESG Rating Agencies Integrate Sustainability Principles. *Sustainability*, *11*(3), 915. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11030915

Escrig-Olmedo, E., Muñoz-Torres, M. J., Fernández-Izquierdo, M. Á., & Rivera-Lirio, J. M. (2014). Lights and shadows on sustainability rating scoring. *Review of Managerial Science*, 8(4), 559– 574. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-013-0118-0

Escrig-Olmedo, E., Muñoz-Torres, M. J., Fernández-Izquierdo, M. Á., & Rivera-Lirio, J. M. (2017). Measuring Corporate Environmental Performance: A Methodology for Sustainable Development. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *26*(2), 142–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1904

EU Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance. (2019). *Taxonomy Technical Report. June*(June), 414.

https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business_economy_euro/banking_and_finance/d ocuments/190618-sustainable-finance-teg-report-taxonomy_en.pdf

- European Commission. (2021a). *Environment WHAT IS EMAS?* https://ec.europa.eu/environment/emas/index_en.htm
- European Commission. (2021b). *EU taxonomy for sustainable activities*. https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/sustainable-finance/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities_en
- European Parliament. (2014). *Texts adopted*. www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/ getDoc.do?type%04TA&reference%04P7-TA-2014-0368&language%04EN&ring%04A7-2014-0006# BKMD-68
- Fasan, M. (2017). Lo stato dell'arte del corporate reporting: Integrated Reporting. *L'azienda Sostenibile. Trend, Strumenti e Case Study*, 17–30. https://doi.org/10.14277/6969-188-1/LCF-4-1
- Fasan, Marco, & Mio, C. (2017). Fostering Stakeholder Engagement: The Role of Materiality Disclosure in Integrated Reporting. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *26*(3), 288–305. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1917
- Fernandez-Feijoo, B., Romero, S., & Ruiz, S. (2014). Effect of Stakeholders' Pressure on Transparency of Sustainability Reports within the GRI Framework. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *122*(1), 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1748-5

Financial Times. (2021, March 31). *Deliveroo tumbles 26% in London debut*. https://www.ft.com/content/5028437e-accf-4624-8ecd-2b502d04743d

Formentini, M., & Taticchi, P. (2016). Corporate sustainability approaches and governance mechanisms in sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *112*, 1920–1933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.12.072

- Freiberg, D., Grewal, J. and Serafeim, G. (2020). *Science-Based Carbon Emissions Targets. Working Paper*. https://www.harvard.edu/search/?q_as=Science-Based Carbon Emissions Targets
- Galbreath, J. (2013). ESG in Focus: The Australian Evidence. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 118(3), 529–541. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1607-9

Garcia, S., Cintra, Y., Torres, R. de C. S. R., & Lima, F. G. (2016). Corporate sustainability management: a proposed multi-criteria model to support balanced decision-making. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *136*, 181–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.01.110

Gaziulusoy, A. I., & Brezet, H. (2015). Design for system innovations and transitions: a conceptual

framework integrating insights from sustainablity science and theories of system innovations and transitions. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 108,* 558–568.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.06.066
- Gianni, M., Gotzamani, K., & Tsiotras, G. (2017). Multiple perspectives on integrated management systems and corporate sustainability performance. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *168*, 1297–1311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.09.061
- Gimenez, C., Sierra, V., & Rodon, J. (2012). Sustainable operations: Their impact on the triple bottom line. *International Journal of Production Economics*, *140*(1), 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.01.035
- Global Reporting Initiative. (2016a). Gri 101: foundation 2016 101. In *GRI Standards* (Vol. GRI101, Issue 1). www.globalreporting.org
- Global Reporting Initiative. (2016b). Gri 102: general disclosures 2016 102. In *GRI Standards: Vol. GRI* (Issue 1). www.globalreporting.org
- Global Reporting Initiative. (2016c). Gri 103: management approach 2016 103. In *GRI Standards* (Vol. 1). www.globalreporting.org
- Gonzalez-Perez, M. A., & Leonard, L. (2015). *The Global Compact: Corporate Sustainability in the Post 2015 World* (pp. 1–19). https://doi.org/10.1108/S2051-503020150000017001
- Grewal, J., & Serafeim, G. (2020). Research on Corporate Sustainability: Review and Directions for Future Research. *Foundations and Trends® in Accounting*, *14*(2), 73–127. https://doi.org/10.1561/140000061
- GRI. (2021a). *GRI and SASB reporting "complement each other."* https://www.globalreporting.org/about-gri/news-center/gri-and-sasb-reporting-complementeach-other/
- GRI. (2021b). Integrating SDGs into sustainability reporting. https://www.globalreporting.org/public-policy-partnerships/sustainabledevelopment/integrating-sdgs-into-sustainability-reporting/
- GRI, United Nations Global Compact, PwC, & SHIFT. (2018). *Business Reporting on the SDGs*. https://www.globalreporting.org/media/0sxj0ewa/gri_ungc_reporting-onsdgs_practical_guide.pdf
- Grimm, J. H., Hofstetter, J. S., & Sarkis, J. (2016). Exploring sub-suppliers' compliance with corporate sustainability standards. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *112*, 1971–1984. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.11.036
- Hahn, R. (2012). Standardizing Social Responsibility? New Perspectives on Guidance Documents and Management System Standards for Sustainable Development. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, *59*(4), 717–727. https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2012.2183639
- Hoffenson, S., Dagman, A., & Söderberg, R. (2013). A Multi-objective Tolerance Optimization
 Approach for Economic, Ecological, and Social Sustainability. In A. Y. C. Nee, B. Song, & S.-K.
 Ong (Eds.), *Re-engineering Manufacturing for Sustainability* (pp. 729–734). Springer Singapore.
- Holton, I., Glass, J., & Price, A. D. F. (2010). Managing for sustainability: findings from four company case studies in the UK precast concrete industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *18*(2), 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2009.09.016
- Hsu, C.-W., Lee, W.-H., & Chao, W.-C. (2013). Materiality analysis model in sustainability reporting: a case study at Lite-On Technology Corporation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *57*, 142–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.05.040
- Huang, I. B., Keisler, J., & Linkov, I. (2011). Multi-criteria decision analysis in environmental sciences: Ten years of applications and trends. *Science of The Total Environment*, 409(19), 3578–3594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.06.022
- IIRC. (2014). Creating Value: Value to the board. www.theiirc.org

- IIRC. (2016). *Creating Value The cyclical power*. https://integratedreporting.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/11/CreatingValue_IntegratedThinking_.pdf
- Il Sole 24 Ore. (2021, March 31). *Debutto da brividi per Deliveroo, crolla del 30% alla Borsa di Londra*. https://www.ilsole24ore.com/art/deliveroo-confermato-prezzo-offerta-390-sterline-azione-ADkpYQUB
- International Integrated Reporting Council. (2021). < *IR* > *Framework About the IIRC. January*, 58. https://integratedreporting.org/wp-

content/uploads/2021/01/InternationalIntegratedReportingFramework.pdf

- International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). (2013a). *Assurance on <IR> an exploration of issues*. https://integratedreporting.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Assurance-on-IR-an-exploration-of-issues.pdf
- International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). (2013b). *Reporting Integrato*. 1–37. https://integratedreporting.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/13-12-08-THE-INTERNATIONAL-IR-FRAMEWORK-Italian.pdf
- International Organization for Standardization. (2015). *ISO 14001 Key benefits*. https://www.iso.org/files/live/sites/isoorg/files/store/en/PUB100372.pdf
- International Organization for Standardization. (2017). *ISO 14001:2015 ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS - A PRACTICAL GUIDE FOR SMES*. ISO 2017. https://www.iso.org/publication/PUB100411.html
- Ioannou, Ioannis;, & Serafeim, G. (2019). Yes, Sustainability Can Be a Strategy. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2019/02/yes-sustainability-can-be-a-strategy?
- Ioannou, Ioannis, & Serafeim, G. (2017). The Consequences of Mandatory Corporate Sustainability Reporting The Consequences of Mandatory Corporate Sustainability Reporting. In *Harvard Business School Research Working Paper* (No. 11–100).

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/f44a/77e9799017edb8a2a90e00b2c2ba742ea2f2.pdf

ISO. (2018). ISO 14067:2018. https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:14067:ed-1:v1:en

ISO. (2021). *ISO standards are internationally agreed by experts*. https://www.iso.org/standards.html

ISPRA. (2018). *Sistemi di gestione ambientale (EMAS, ISO 14001)*. http://www.sinanet.isprambiente.it/gelso/rassegna-degli-strumenti-di-sostenibilita-per-glienti-locali/sistemi-di-gestione-ambientale

- James, M. L. (2015). The benefits of sustainability and integrated reporting: an investigation of accounting majors' perceptions. *Journal of Legal, Ethical and Regulatory Issues*, *18*(*1*), 1–20. https://hallam.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/benefits-sustainability-integrated-reporting/docview/1693348218/se-2?accountid=13827
- Jiang, Q., Liu, Z., Liu, W., Li, T., Cong, W., Zhang, H., & Shi, J. (2018). A principal component analysis based three-dimensional sustainability assessment model to evaluate corporate sustainable performance. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 187, 625–637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.03.255
- Jin, Z., & Bai, Y. (2011). Sustainable Development and Long-Term Strategic Management. *World Futures Review*, *3*(2), 49–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/194675671100300208
- Jolliet, O., Saadé-Sbeih, M., Shaked, S., Jolliet, A., & Crettaz, P. (2016). *Environmental Life Cycle Assessment*. CRC Press. http://library.unisel.edu.my/equipunisel/custom/ebook_catalog/EnvironmentalLifeCycleAssessmentcompress.pdf
- Joshi, S., & Li, Y. (2016). What Is Corporate Sustainability and How Do Firms Practice It? A Management Accounting Research Perspective. *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, 28(2), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.2308/jmar-10496
- Kaplan, S. (2020). Why Social Responsibility Produces More Resilient Organizations. MIT Sloan

Management Review; Cambridge, Vol. 62, F, 85–90.

https://search.proquest.com/docview/2444680035/fulltext/8F756240E76541B7PQ/1?account id=13827

- King, A., & Bartels, W. (2015). *Currents of change: The KPMG Survey of Corporate Responsibility Reporting 2015*. https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2016/02/kpmg-internationalsurvey-of-corporate-responsibility-reporting-2015.pdf
- Kılıç, M., & Kuzey, C. (2018). Assessing current company reports according to the IIRC integrated reporting framework. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 26(2), 305–333. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-04-2017-0138
- KPMG. (2012). Expect the Unexpected: Building business value in a changing world. https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2012/05/Expect-the-unexpected-executivesummary-eng.pdf
- KPMG. (2020). *The COVID-19 recovery calls for bold corporate action on sustainability*. https://home.kpmg/dk/en/home/insights/2020/06/covid-19-recovery-calls-for-more-corporate-sustainability.html
- KPMG International. (2014). *Sustainable Insight: The essentials of materiality assessment*. https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/pdf/2014/10/materiality-assessment.pdf
- Lai, A., Melloni, G., & Stacchezzini, R. (2017). What does materiality mean to integrated reporting preparers? An empirical exploration. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, *25*(4), 533–552. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-02-2017-0113
- Landrum, N. E., & Ohsowski, B. (2018). Identifying Worldviews on Corporate Sustainability: A Content Analysis of Corporate Sustainability Reports. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 27(1), 128–151. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1989
- Levy, D. L., Szejnwald Brown, H., & de Jong, M. (2010). The Contested Politics of Corporate Governance. *Business & Society*, *49*(1), 88–115. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650309345420
- Linnenluecke, M. K., & Griffiths, A. (2010). Corporate sustainability and organizational culture. Journal of World Business, 45(4), 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2009.08.006

Lopatta, K., & Kaspereit, T. (2014). The World Capital Markets' Perception of Sustainability and the Impact of the Financial Crisis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *122*(3), 475–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1760-9

- Lozano, R., & Huisingh, D. (2011). Inter-linking issues and dimensions in sustainability reporting. Journal of Cleaner Production, 19(2–3), 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.01.004
- Lueg, K., Lueg, R., Andersen, K., & Dancianu, V. (2016). Integrated reporting with CSR practices. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, *21*(1), 20–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-08-2014-0053
- Maas, K., Schaltegger, S., & Crutzen, N. (2016). Integrating corporate sustainability assessment, management accounting, control, and reporting. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *136*, 237–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.05.008
- Magrassi, L., & Raoli, E. (2018). Rilevanza (e materialità) nella disclosure non finanziaria. *Consiglio Nazionale Dei Dottori Commercialisti e Degli Esperti Contabili*, 3–92. https://commercialisti.it/documents/20182/323701/CNDCEC+-+Rilevanza+nella+disclosure+e+d.lgs.+254-2016+-+070318+-+final.pdf
- Maletic, M., Podpečan, M., & Maletic, D. (2015). ISO 14001 in a corporate sustainability context: a multiple case study approach. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, *26*(6), 872–890. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-08-2014-0129
- Marimon, F., Alonso-Almeida, M. del M., Rodríguez, M. del P., & Cortez Alejandro, K. A. (2012). The worldwide diffusion of the global reporting initiative: what is the point? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *33*, 132–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.04.017

Meteor. (2021). What is Meteor? https://guide.meteor.com

- Mio, C. (2013). Materiality and Assurance: Building the Link. In C. Busco, M. L. Frigo, A. Riccaboni, & P. Quattrone (Eds.), *Integrated Reporting: Concepts and Cases that Redefine Corporate Accountability* (pp. 79–94). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-02168-3_5
- Missimer, M. (2015). *Social Sustainability within the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development* [Blekinge Institute of Technology]. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:bth-10464%0A
- Missimer, M., Robrt, K. H., Broman, G., & Sverdrup, H. (2010). Exploring the possibility of a systematic and generic approach to social sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *18*(10–11), 1107–1112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.02.024
- Moldavska, A., & Welo, T. (2017). The concept of sustainable manufacturing and its definitions: A content-analysis based literature review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *166*, 744–755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.08.006
- Mongo DB. (2021a). *Cos'è MongoDB?* https://www.mongodb.com/it-it/what-is-mongodb
- Mongo DB. (2021b). What is NoSQL? https://www.mongodb.com/nosql-explained
- Montiel, I., & Delgado-Ceballos, J. (2014). Defining and Measuring Corporate Sustainability. *Organization & Environment*, *27*(2), 113–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026614526413
- Muñoz-Torres, M. J., Fernández-Izquierdo, M. Á., Rivera-Lirio, J. M., & Escrig-Olmedo, E. (2019). Can environmental, social, and governance rating agencies favor business models that promote a more sustainable development? *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, *26*(2), 439–452. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1695
- Mura, M., Longo, M., Micheli, P., & Bolzani, D. (2018). The Evolution of Sustainability Measurement Research. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, *20*(3), 661–695. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12179
- Nathan, J. D. (2018). Is The Natural Step's Theory about Sustainability Still Sustainable? A Theoretical Review and Critique. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, *11*(1), 125. https://doi.org/10.5539/jsd.v11n1p125
- Nawaz, W., & Koç, M. (2018). Development of a systematic framework for sustainability management of organizations. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *171*, 1255–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.011
- Nawaz, W., & Koç, M. (2019). Exploring Organizational Sustainability: Themes, Functional Areas, and Best Practices. *Sustainability*, *11*(16), 4307. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11164307
- Nazioni Unite. (2019). *Sustainable development goals, 17 goals to transform our world*. https://unric.org/it/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2019/11/SDG-presentazione.pdf
- Neves, F. de O., Salgado, E. G., & Beijo, L. A. (2017). Analysis of the Environmental Management System based on ISO 14001 on the American continent. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 199, 251–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.05.049
- Nunhes, T. V., Bernardo, M., & Oliveira, O. J. de. (2020). Rethinking the Way of Doing Business: A Reframe of Management Structures for Developing Corporate Sustainability. *Sustainability*, *12*(3), 1177. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031177
- Nunhes, T. V., Bernardo, M., & Oliveira, O. J. (2019). Guiding principles of integrated management systems: Towards unifying a starting point for researchers and practitioners. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *210*, 977–993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.11.066
- Olmedo, E. E., Torres, M. J. M., & Izquierdo, M. A. F. (2010). Socially responsible investing: sustainability indices, ESG rating and information provider agencies. *International Journal of Sustainable Economy*, 2(4), 442. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSE.2010.035490
- Pandey, D., Agrawal, M., & Pandey, J. S. (2011). Carbon footprint: current methods of estimation.

Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 178(1–4), 135–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1678-y

- Parmar, B. L., Freeman, R. E., Harrison, J. S., Wicks, A. C., Purnell, L., & de Colle, S. (2010). Stakeholder Theory: The State of the Art. *Academy of Management Annals*, 4(1), 403–445. https://doi.org/10.5465/19416520.2010.495581
- Pope Francis. (2015). Laudato Si' Encyclical Letter on Care for Our Common Home. *Our Sunday Visitor*.
- Pryshlakivsky, J., & Searcy, C. (2017). A Heuristic Model for Establishing Trade-Offs in Corporate Sustainability Performance Measurement Systems. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 144(2), 323–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2806-y
- PwC. (2016). The widening variety of factors used in investment decision making. August. https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/services/audit-assurance/assets/the-widening-variety-of-factorsused-in-investment-decision-making-pwc.pdf
- Rahbek Gjerdrum Pedersen, E., Hove Henriksen, M., Frier, C., Søby, J., & Jennings, V. (2013). Stakeholder thinking in sustainability management: the case of Novozymes. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 9(4), 500–515. https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-08-2012-0101

Ritchey, T. (2011). Wicked Problems – Social Messes. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-19653-9

- Robertson, F. A., & Samy, M. (2015). Factors affecting the diffusion of integrated reporting a UK FTSE 100 perspective. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, *6*(2), 190–223. https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-07-2014-0044
- Roca, L. C., & Searcy, C. (2012). An analysis of indicators disclosed in corporate sustainability reports. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *20*(1), 103–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.08.002
- Rodriguez, A., Cotran, H., & Stewart, L. S. (2017). Evaluating the Effectiveness of Sustainability Disclosure: Findings from a Recent SASB Study. *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, *29*(2), 100–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/jacf.12237
- Rupley, K. H., Brown, D., & Marshall, S. (2017). Evolution of corporate reporting: From stand-alone corporate social responsibility reporting to integrated reporting. *Research in Accounting Regulation*, 29(2), 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.racreg.2017.09.010
- Sarsby, A. (2016). Swot Analysis : A Guide to Swot for Business Studies Students. Spectaris Ltd. https://books.google.it/books?hl=it&lr=&id=Yrp3DQAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA1&dq=swot+analy sis+what+is&ots=ODle2vv2YC&sig=vWoGiAjOVdYyzRnkT8qLWPxJVIU#v=onepage&q=swot analysis what is&f=false
- SASB. (2018). *SASB's Sustainable industry classification system® (SICS®*). https://www.sasb.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/SICS-Industry-List.pdf
- SASB. (2020). *Promoting Clarity and Compatibility in the Sustainability Landscape*. https://www.sasb.org/blog/gri-and-sasb-announce-collaboration-sustainability-reporting/
- SASB. (2021a). GRI and SASB reporting 'complement each other' Practical guide shares experiences of using both sets of standards together. https://www.sasb.org/wp
 - content/uploads/2021/04/Joint-press-release-GRI-SASB-April-2021-Final.pdf
- SASB. (2021b). Implementation Primer. https://www.sasb.org/implementation-primer/
- SASB. (2021c). SASB connects business and investors on the financial impacts of sustainability. https://www.sasb.org/about/
- SASB. (2021d). SASB Materiality Map. https://materiality.sasb.org
- SASB. (2021e). Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. https://www.sasb.org/standards/materiality-map/
- SASB. (2021f). Why Companies Use SASB Standards. https://www.sasb.org/company-use/

Scalet, S., & Kelly, T. F. (2010). CSR Rating Agencies: What is Their Global Impact? *Journal of Business Ethics*, *94*(1), 69–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-009-0250-6

SDG impact, & UNDP. (2020). SDG impact standards enterprises. https://sdgimpact.undp.org/enterprise.html

Serafeim, G. (2020). Social-Impact Efforts That Create Real Value They must be woven into your strategy and differentiate your company. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2020/09/social-impact-efforts-that-create-real-value

Siew, R. Y. J. (2015). A review of corporate sustainability reporting tools (SRTs). *Journal of Environmental Management*, *164*, 180–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.09.010

Silvestri, A., Veltri, S., Venturelli, A., & Petruzzelli, S. (2017). A research template to evaluate the degree of accountability of integrated reporting: a case study. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 25(4), 675–704. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-11-2016-0098

Simnett, R., & Huggins, A. L. (2015). Integrated reporting and assurance: where can research add value? *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, *6*(1), 29–53. https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-09-2014-0053

SiRating. (2020). *Quanto è sostenibile la tua attività?* http://sirating.com

Sofian, I., & Dumitru, M. (2017). The Compliance of the Integrated Reports Issued by European Financial Companies with the International Integrated Reporting Framework. *Sustainability*, 9(8), 1319. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9081319

Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockstrom, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., de Vries, W., de Wit, C. A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., & Sorlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1259855–1259855. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855

Sun, Y. (2020). Increasing risk management & resilience through ESG investing. WBCSD. https://www.wbcsd.org/Overview/News-Insights/WBCSD-insights/Increasing-riskmanagement-resilience-through-ESG-investing

The Natural Step. (2021a). 5 level framework. https://thenaturalstep.org/approach/5-levels/

The Natural Step. (2021b). Accelerating Change. https://thenaturalstep.org/approach/

The Natural Step. (2021c). Backcasting. https://www.naturalstep.ca/backcasting

The Natural Step. (2021d). The Natural Step. https://thenaturalstep.org

Thompson, A. W., & Blume, R. (2010). *The Natural Step Framework*. 2, 350–352. https://web.stanford.edu/class/me221/readings/NaturalStepOverview.pdf

Times Higher Education. (2021). *Impact Rankings 2021*. https://www.timeshighereducation.com/impactrankings#!/page/0/length/25/sort_by/rank/sor t_order/asc/cols/undefined

Treccani. (2021). *Stakeholder*. https://www.treccani.it/enciclopedia/stakeholder/

Tschopp, D., & Huefner, R. J. (2015). Comparing the Evolution of CSR Reporting to that of Financial Reporting. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *127*(3), 565–577. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2054-6

Tseng, M. L., Wu, K. J., Ma, L., Kuo, T. C., & Sai, F. (2019). A hierarchical framework for assessing corporate sustainability performance using a hybrid fuzzy synthetic method-DEMATEL. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 144(October 2017), 524–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2017.10.014

Uhlaner, L. M., Berent-Braun, M. M., Jeurissen, R. J. M., & de Wit, G. (2012). Beyond Size: Predicting Engagement in Environmental Management Practices of Dutch SMEs. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *109*(4), 411–429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-011-1137-x

United Nations Global Compact. (2021). What's the Commitment? UNGC.

https://www.unglobalcompact.org/participation/join/commitment

- Upstill-Goddard, J., Glass, J., Dainty, A., & Nicholson, I. (2016). Implementing sustainability in small and medium-sized construction firms. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, 23*(4), 407–427. https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-01-2015-0015
- Valente, M. (2012). Theorizing Firm Adoption of Sustaincentrism. *Organization Studies*, *33*(4), 563–591. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840612443455
- Veenstra, E. M., & Ellemers, N. (2020). ESG Indicators as Organizational Performance Goals: Do Rating Agencies Encourage a Holistic Approach? *Sustainability*, *12*(24), 10228. https://doi.org/10.3390/su122410228
- Villiers, C. (2014). Integrated reporting for sustainable companies: What to encourage and what to avoid. *Eur. Company L.*, 11, 117.

http://www.kluwerlawonline.com/abstract.php?area=Journals&id=EUCL2014023

Witjes, S., Vermeulen, W. J. V., & Cramer, J. M. (2017). Exploring corporate sustainability integration into business activities. Experiences from 18 small and medium sized enterprises in the Netherlands. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 153, 528–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.02.027

- Wolf, M.-A., Chomkhamsri, K., Brandão, M., Pant, R., Ardente, F., Pretato, U., Manfredi, S., De Camillis, C., Góralczyk, M., & Pennington, D. (2010). *International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook: General guide for Life Cycle Assessment - Detailed guidance.* European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Ispra, Italy. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxemburg. https://doi.org/10.2788/3847
- World Commission for Environmental and Development. (1987). *Our common future*. http://www.un-documents.net/our-common-future.pdf
- World Economic Forum. (2020). Measuring Stakeholder Capitalism. Toward Common Metrics and Consistent Reporting of Sustainable Value Creation. In *World Economic Forum* (Issue September).

http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_IBC_Measuring_Stakeholder_Capitalism_Report_2020. pdf

- Zimek, M., & Baumgartner, R. J. (2017). Corporate sustainability activities and sustainability performance of first and second order. *18th European Roundtable on Sustainable Consumption and Production Conference (ERSCP 2017)*, *15*(Erscp).
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320612163
- Zwicky, F. (1967). The Morphological Approach to Discovery, Invention, Research and Construction. In *New Methods of Thought and Procedure* (pp. 273–297). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-87617-2_14
- Zwicky, Fritz, & Wilson, A. (1967). *New Methods of Thought and Procedure* (Fritz Zwicky & A. G. Wilson (eds.)). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-87617-2

APPENDIX A: FIRST IN-DEPTH SECTION OF THE THEORETICAL NOTIONS DOCUMENT

A company, after having visited the first section of the document, presented in Figure 0.1, is able to access the second section by pressing "Learn more". This is the section presenting complete insights related to the pillars of sustainability, integrated sustainability, corporate sustainability, and tools. Moreover, in this first section there are links to the main web pages of the various tools and methodologies inherent to corporate sustainability.

PILLARS OF SUSTAINABILITY

Being sustainable means improving the quality of human life while living within the carrying capacity of supporting the environment. Sustainability is made up of three pillars: economy, society and the environment. The triple bottom line consists of social equity, economic and environmental factors. The phrase "People, Planet, and Profit" to describe the triple bottom line and goal of sustainability was coined by John Elkington in 1994.

Environmental pillar

Environmental sustainability means the ability to preserve natural capital over time, made up of goods, such as natural resources and services. For a company, sustainability linked to the environmental pillar refers to the attention paid to the negative externalities that the production processes, products and services generated have on natural resources and the quality of the environment.

Social Pillar

Social sustainability can be defined as the ability to guarantee the maintenance of social capital, understood as investments and services equally distributed by class and by gender, which constitute the basic structure of society. For a company, social sustainability refers to attention to the rights of workers, human rights, diversity, development of human capital within the company and the portion outside the organization such as the local community and the supply chain.

Economic Pillar

Economic sustainability can be defined as the ability of an economic system to generate lasting growth of economic indicators, through the creation of income and jobs for the sustenance of populations through an effective combination of resources. For companies, often referred to as governance as well, it consists in implementing an integrated strategy that ensures compliance and creates long-term value, combining economic-financial growth and solidity with environmental and social sustainability through adequate supervision and monitoring of production processes.

Contact us

Contact us

A

Learn more

 \sim

Contact us

Learn more

 \sim

INTEGRATED SUSTAINABILITY

Confining the dimensions of sustainability to closed systems, unable to interact with each other, is reductive. Every single company function is involved in sustainability issues, integrated sustainability is based on a holistic and complementary strategic approach where the three pillars of sustainability are seen as a growth driver that invests the entire corporate ecosystem for the creation or maintenance of long-term value.

SUSTAINABILITY TOOLS

There are several tools and methodologies that allow companies to evaluate, apply, implement and report sustainability. These tools or methodologies can be grouped within 4 macro-areas:

- Frameworks: The Natural Step; CDSB, etc; (https://thenaturalstep.org, https://www.cdsb.net)
- Non-financial reporting systems: GRI, SASB, IR, etc; (https://www.globalreporting.org, https://www.sasb.org, https://integratedreporting.org)
- Standards and Certifications: ISO, BSI, B-Corp, etc; (https://www.iso.org/standards.html https://bcorporation.net, https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/)
- Rating tools: Ecovadis, SiRating, Bloomberg, etc.

Figure 0.1: First section of the theoretical notions document

APPENDIX B: SUSTAINABILITY METHODOLOGIES/STANDARDS QUESTIONNAIRE

Personal informations

- First name*:
- Surname*:
- E-mail:
- Institution / Company:

For each single methodology, the following was required:

- Do you know and can you describe this methodology/standard?

For a negative answer the questionnaire passed to the next methodology/standard, for an affirmative answer the questionnaire proposed the following additional questions:

In which sector (pillar / thematic) of the sustainability assessment would you insert this methodology/standard?

- Environmental
- Social
- Economic
- Integrated

In applying this methodology/standard, how do you evaluate its complexity also considering the temporal level?

- Simple
- Medium
- Complex
- Other

In applying this methodology/standard, how essential do you think external support is for the company?

- 1 not essential
- 2
- 3
- 4

- 5 essential

In applying this methodology/standard, how many resources (personnel, information, etc) do you think are necessary?

- 1 few resources
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5 many resources

Once this methodology/standard is applied, how would you describe the final information obtained?

- Qualitative
- Quantitative
- Mixed

Once this methodology/standard has been applied, how would you describe the results obtained?

- 1 approximate
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5 accurate

How would you describe the potential benefits obtained from implementing this methodology/

standard?

both internal and external

- 1 none
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5 high

How can the impact on image / communication deriving from the application of this methodology / standard be defined?

If the result can be spent on the market and has a lot of exposure, mark 10 If the result is not usable on the market and has no visibility, mark 0

- 0 Not important
- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- ,
- 8
- 9
- 10 Definitely important

At the end of the 21 methodologies / standards included in the questionnaire there was the presence of two further sections Additional consideration and Other.

Additional Considerations

Are there any further considerations about one or more proposed methodologies / standards?

- Yes
- No

Comment:

Other

Do you know any other methods that you consider important for the implementation of corporate sustainability not mentioned yet?

- Yep
- No

Which?

If you can, enter information such as: Pillar / Theme, Complexity and Potential Benefits

	% FEEDBACK
LCA	100%
CARBON FOOTPRINT	100%
WATER FOOTPRINT	71%
ISO 14001 (ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	71%
EMAS (ECO-MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT SCHEME)	53%
ISO 50001 (ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	6%
SA8000 (SOCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)	41%
ISO 45001 (OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS)	24%
SROI (SOCIAL RETURN ON INVESTMENT)	18%
THEORY OF CHANGE	24%
SOCIAL FOOTPRINT	59%
BENEFIT CORPORATION	12%
ISO 9001 (QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	47%
ISO 44001 (COLLABORATIVE BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	0%
ISO 22301 (SOCIETAL SECURITY, BUSINESS CONTINUITY MANAGEMENT	0%
SYSTEM)	070
AA1000 (ACCOUNTABILITY)	24%
ISO 28001 (SECURITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FOR THE SUPPLY CHAIN)	0%
ISO 31000 (RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM)	6%
BS8900 (SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT OF ORGANIZATIONS)	6%
ISO 26000 (GUIDE TO SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)	12%
THE NATURAL STEP	29%

Table 0.1: Response rate for each standard/methodology

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Giunto alla conclusione di questo mio percorso di studi ritengo indispensabile ringraziare tutte le persone che mi hanno seguito con estrema pazienza ed alle quali sono molto grato per tutto ciò che ho potuto apprendere.

Innanzitutto, vorrei ringraziare la mia relatrice, la prof.ssa Elena Semenzin, e la mia correlatrice, la dott.ssa Lisa Pizzol. Per essere riuscite a trasmettermi la passione e l'entusiasmo di questo lavoro. Per tutti gli insegnamenti, consigli e confronti che sono state in grado di divulgarmi con semplicità e pazienza e per la costante disponibilità, soprattutto durante la stesura di questa tesi, nonché per aver reso possibile la conoscenza di diverse persone esperte nel settore della sostenibilità aziendale. Un sentito ringraziamento lo devo anche al mio secondo correlatore, il dott. Marco Pesce, sia per i numerosi consigli sia per le diverse opportunità che mi ha voluto concedere e che hanno contribuito alla mia crescita personale.

Vorrei inoltre ringraziare Strategy Innovation e Alterevo, in particolare la dott.ssa Elisa Gritti, e i dottori Matteo Civiero, Alessandro Maura, Albero Ferri, Lorenzo Liguoro e Simone Giotto che con la loro preziosissima disponibilità ed i loro consigli hanno reso possibile sia la definizione delle metodologie e standard da inserire all'interno dello schema morfologico sia l'applicazione dello strumento ad un caso studio reale. Un doveroso ringraziamento va anche al dott. Gianpietro Basei, che ha sviluppato l'applicativo web del framework ed a tutti gli esperti che hanno investito parte del loro tempo per poter rispondere al questionario che mi ha permesso di sviluppare lo schema morfologico. A seguire vorrei ringraziare la mia numerosissima famiglia (genitori, sorelle, cognati e nipoti tutti), per aver sempre creduto in me. Per esserci sempre e per supportarmi e sopportarmi costantemente. Infine, un ultimo grazie lo riservo ai miei amici più vecchi e cari, Giovanni, Nicolò, Giacomo e Andrea, ed alle mie fidate compagne di avventure universitarie Giorgia e Arianna che riescono sempre a strapparmi un sorriso anche quando la voglia non c'è, che sanno sempre come tirarmi su di morale e per aver condiviso le mie costanti lamentele e paranoie durante gli anni.